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Network Rail helps bring the
country together. We own, operate,
maintain and invest in Britain’s

rail network. Increasingly we are
delivering improved standards

of safety, reliability and efficiency.
This benefits our customers and
soclety at large.

Every day. Everywhere.




Britain’s rail network is
increasingly successful
It is the busiest it has been for 50 years. The number

of passengers has increased over 40 per cent in the
last 10 years and the amount of freight is up nearly

60 per cent.

When we took responsibility for the
network in 2002, we said 1t would take
18 months to show major improvements
and three to five years to achieve a
sustainable level of efficiency and
performance We are now approaching
the end of that process

We have achieved major improvements
In safety — the number of broken rails
Is now at the lowest recorded level
ever, and the nisk from signals passed
at danger has decreased 90 per cent
since 2001

Train punctualty 1s at its highest for
seven years

We are proud of the success we have
achieved so far, but there 1s clearly
much maere to be done

Improving performance and increasing
demand bnngs 1ts own challenges In
many areas - London, the South East,
Birmingham, Manchester, Leeds and
on intercity services, for example —
crowding 1S now a growing Issue

We have a key part to play, alongside
the train and freight operating
companies, In growing the ralway
and delivering a world class service

And we must continue to concentrate
on safety, reiability and efficiency
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- Our performance

Safety
Rail travel is the safest
form of transport in Britain

Despite the tragic incident in Cumbna in
February 2007, the railway s safer than
it has ever been and 1s the safest form
of transport in Brtain Safety remains our
number one pnonty and we will continue
to do everything In our power to maintain
and improve performance

8th

consecutive annual reduction in
number of broken rails — now at
lowest recorded rate, as we use
better information to move from
‘find and fix’ to ‘predict and prevent’

90%

decrease in the nsk from signals
passed at danger since 2001, thanks to
the introduction of TPWS and TPWS+

164%

Level crossings represent the
greatest remaining area of nsk on
the railways Qur targeted and hard
hitting ‘Don’t run the nsk’ campaign
has raised public awareness of the
dangers of incorrect level crossing
use by 66 per cent nationally and
164 per cent in the hotspots

Financial highlights

for the year encled 31 March 2007

Reliability
Train punctuality is at its
highest for seven years

Improvements in performance to date
are the result of hard work by everybody
involved n the railway — its infrastructure

and the trains that use it A key part of this

has been the success of joint planning
and delivery processes between us and
the train operators We are confident

that our 90 per cent punctuality target 1s
achievable, however further improvement
will become increasingly difficult

28%

reduction in Network Rail train
delays since we took over in 2002/03,
although overall delay minutes last
year, at 10 5m, were the same as in
2005/06

88%

of trains arrive on time, the highest
level for seven years We are targeting
90 per cent within the next two years

2007

2006

£m £m
Revenue 5,795 3,837
Operating profit 2,278 468
Profit/(loss) before taxation 1,478 (232)
Profit/{loss) after taxation 1,035 (253)
Net cash from operating activities 2,428 655
Net debt (18,394) (18,201)
Net assets 5,658 4,363
Railway network fixed assets 28,304 25,991
Investment property 948 892
Capital expenditure 3,326 3,151
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Efficiency

Strong financial performance
enables us to invest more

in enhanced capacity and
longer term efficiency

We have made good progress in driving
out costs from the business, stnpping

£1 3 billion from the cost base and
substantially reducing the unit cost

of investment in the rallway Further
reductions in controllable costs will
enable us to make investments to reduce
the longer term caost of the railway while
Increasing capacity, mantenance and
renewals Tight cost control however,
must be combined with continuous
improvernent In assets and performance

£1.5bn

profit before tax Because we are a
not for dividend company, that profitis
being ploughed back into the railway

£2.4bn

to be spent on enhancements over
the next two years to increase capacity
and improve station facilities

£3.3bn

capital nvestment in the railway
this year




People
Over 33,000 people delivering
on behalf of the nation

Thanks to the efforts of aur employees,
the railway system carnes some three
million pecple every day and 20 billion
tonne kilometres of freight every year

We are investing heavily i fraining,
apprenticeship schemeas and career
development to improve the performance
of our business

7,000

employees will have completed
leadership development courses
at Westwood, our leadership
development centre in Coventry;,
by the end of the year

0.26

employee accidents per 100,000
hours worked Put another way,
on average an employee would
have to work nearly 200 years
per reportable accident

Safety is our number
one priority
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Chairman’s statement

lan McAllister, Chairman

The improving
performance of the
railway in recent years
has led to ever-growing
demand from passengers
and freight users.

The performance of Network Rail, and of the railway network, has improved further
in the fast year Train punctuality has continued to increase and the financial
efficiency of the Company 1s getting better, as these full year results demonstrate
Furthermore, the network 1s benefiting from record investment to meet the growing

demands of passengers and freight users

Unfortunately no review of the year
would be complete without remembenng
the tragic incident at Grayrngg in Cumbria
on the evening of Friclay 23 February
AVirgin Trains service from London-
Glasgow derailed on a set of points
causing one fatality and many injuries
As soon as the immedrate cause of the
derailment became clear, Network Rall
took full responsibility for the incident
and apologised to those affected

The Grayrigg derailment was a tragedy
but it should not make us lose sight of
the fact that the railway 1s now safer than
it has ever been, and more importantly,
that it 1s the safest form of transport
Safety indicators continue to improve,
with broken rails once agamn at their
lowest ever level

There was further improvement in train
punctualty again this year, with 88 1 per
cent of trains arrving on time compared
to 86 4 per cent In the previous year

This represents a tremendous
improvement compared to when Network
Ral took over responsibility for the rall
infrastructure in 2002

Alongside maintaining high levels of
safety and train punctuality, it 1s aiso
vital that Network Rail has continued to
improve the financial efficiency of the
rallway The savings achieved have
contributed to the significant profitability
of Network Rail, with £1bn of post-tax
profits during 2006/07 This money has
already been re-invested in the raillway,
helping to fund Network Rail's £3 3bn
capital investment programme, and

15 a tangible benefit of the Company's
noi-for-dividend status
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The improving perfermance cf the
rallway In recent years has led to
ever-growing demand from passengers
and freight users This 1s excellent news,
but presents the railway industry with

a significant challenge as we seek to
increase the capacity of the raiway

to meet this growing demand

In the 2007 Busmess Plan Network Rail
announced that for the first time since
privatsation, more money will be spent
on enhancing the network than on
matntaining It over the next two years
This autumn the Company will publish
its Strategic Business Plan for 2009/14
which will outline proposals to grow the
network with major expansion plans for
routes like Thameslink and stations like
Birmingham New Street

Following the acquisition of Railtrack,
Network Rail inhented its predecessor’s
liabiities This included the ongoing
health and safety prosecution in relation
to the tragic incident at Ladbroke Grove
in 1999 which resulted in the death of
31 people This prosecution concluded
this year with Network Rail apologising
for Ratltrack’s falings and pleading guilty
to an offence under the Health & Safety
at Work Act The Court fined the
Company £4m




In the coming months there will be a
number of changes to the Board of
Network Rall Most prominent amongst
these will be the retirement in July of the
Chief Executive John Armitt John has
been an outstanding Chief Executive
over the last five years He took on a
Company that was struggling and leaves
one which I1s successful His fellow Board
members wish him well for the future

John will be replaced by lain Coucher,
the present Deputy Chief Executive

lain has been in his current role for more
than four years and has been one of the
key figures in the Executive team that
has transformed the business | am
certain he will be an excellent Chief
Executive, and Network Rail i1s fortunate
In having such a strong internat
candidate to replace John

In addition to John's departure two
non-executive Directors, Rob den Besten
and Chuck Hoppe, are also retinng this
summer | would like to thank them both
for therr substantial contnbution to the
work of the Board

Today's rallway 1s a thriving raillway

In recent years the performance of

the network has improved substantially
and It continues to do so The financial
performance announced by Network Rail
today reinforces those achievements
The challenge of the future 1s one of
capacity Network Rall 1s determined
to work with train operators and the
Government to continue to grow the
network and meet the aspirations of
passengers and freight users alike

O o' Doy

lan McAllister
Chairman
24 May 2007

The challenge of the
future is one of capacity.
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Chief Executive’s review

John Armmitt Chief Execulive

This will be my last annual review as Chief Executive of Network Rail Since taking
on the role in December 2001, | have witnessed a railway which has transformed
the quality of the service it delivers to passengers and freight users with a massive
improvement in the proportion of trains arnving on time and a tremendous
investment in the quality of the network | am proud to have played my part and

to have led the Network Rall team in delivering these improvements

Over the last year, this improvement has
continued with better train punctuahty
and the improved financial performance
which these results illustrate Regrettably,
and despite a safety record which in
other respects remains excellent, the
year has been overshadowed by the
tragic Grayngg derailment which
resulted in one fatality

Safety

As the Chairman discussed in his
review, as soon as the immediate cause
was clear Network Rail accepted
responsibllity for the derallment and
apologised to everyone affected The
whole crganisation was devastated to
conclude that the condition of Lambngg
points caused the accident

The Rall Accident Investigation Branch
and Bnhish Transport Police continue

to investigate the derailment, as does
Network Rall, in order to understand fully
the reasons that the set of points came
to be in such a poor condition

Notwithstanding the tragedy at Grayngg.
we should not overlook the fact that the
safety record of the railways 1s very
strong Prior to the derallment, 1t had
been five years since the last accident
caused by a faillure of the rallway and
some five bilion passengers had been
safety carned in that ime This record
means that the railway 1s now safer than
It has ever been, and that rail I1s now the
safest mode of transport in Bntain
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The number of broken ralls fell again
last year and 15 at the lowest ever level
In total, there were 192 broken ralls

last year compared to 317 during the
previous year and a peak of 952 1n
1998/99 That the iImprovement was so
substantial 1s due to a combination of
factors including the volume of new rail
faid in recent years and improved rail
nspection, as well as being partly due to
the absence of extreme cold weather in
the winter It 1s aifficuit to see significant
further reductions beyond this level

In recent years the Company has been
particutarly determined to improve the
levels of workforce safety but each year
there had been a number of fatalities
amongst track workers [t was pleasing,
therefore, that last year the Accident
Frequency Rate (AFR) improved to better
than our target level, and there were zero
workiorce fatalities The satisfaction at
this good year-end performance quickly
turned to sadness with the death of a
Network Rail track worker in an incident
near Maidenhead in Apn! This iIncident
provides a tragic reminder that there 1s
absolutely no rocom for complacency in
our drive to iImprove workfarce safety

Performance

When | was appointed as Chief
Executive some five-and-a-half years
ago, only 77 per cent of trains were
arriving on time Improving this
unaccepiable performance was the top
prionty for Network Rail, and in the last
twelve months, 88 1 per cent of trains
arrived on time The Company 1s well on
the way to our objective of 90 per cent
average punctuality over a fuil year
before the end of the Control Penod

In March 2009




Network Rall delay minutes have also
fallen substantially over the perod, from
14 7m minutes during the first year of
Network Rail to 10 5Sm minutes last year
That this represents the same level of
performance as during the previous year
15 a disappointment However, delays
from infrastructure faults continue to
reduce and the overall performance
in¢clude anincrease in delays caused by
external factors beyond Network Rail
control of 700,000 minuies

That punctuality has continued to
Increase 1S due to the improved
performance from the train cperators

in the last year, and the improved way

in which Network Rail and the train
operators are working together in the
interests of passengers including
through iniegrated control centres Future
performance improvement will require
ever closer partnership between Network
Rall and train operators, something to
which both partners are committed

This year's performance 1s better than
the ORR's target of 10 6m minutes for
the year, although falls short of Network
Rail's stretching internat target which
aimed for 9 8m minutes The whole
Company I1s absolutely focused on
returning to the trajectory of year-on-
year reductions Iin delay minutes in the
year ahead

Freight

Whilst there 1s a great deal of public
attention on the passenger raiway,
Network Rail 1s equally focused on
delivering a railway for freight use

A key milestone came in March 2007,
when Network Rail published its Route
Utihsation Strategy for freight which set
out proposals for the development of
the freight network including the
enhancement of a number of routes to
carry the larger 'high cube’ 9'6" W10
containers A number of these schemes
are being developed with funding from
Network Rail resources, whilst others
are being progressed through the
Department for Transport’s Transport
Innovation Fund

In addition to this longer-term plan for
the expansion of the rail freight market,
there were also a number of positive
developments during the past year

We were particularly pleased that Eddie
Stobart inhated a new partnership with
Tesco to switch much of their Anglo-
Scottish freight from road to ral Over
the three years of this contract, this will
repiace 39,000 lorry journeys and save
three milion road miles per year

Working with the freight operators, we
have begun a review of unused freight
train paths which has led to some 800
paths being removed from the timetable
to free up space for growth These paths
will now be available for use by other
freight and passenger services,
supporting Network Rail's ambitions

to grow the capacity of the raiway

Freight volumes on raill were broadly
comparable with the preceding year at
a level more than 60 per cent higher
than when the indusiry was pnvatised
in the mid-1990s Container traffic from
deep-sea ports was particularly strong
in the past year with another & per cent
annual nise o new record levels

Cost control

Alongside improving the punctuality

of train services, one of the endunng
priorities during the last five years has
beer improving the cost efficiency of
the railway Reducing the cosl of the
day-to-day railway will free up resources
to be spent on investment and on
growing the network, allowing the rallway
to prosper In the future

In the last year a £63m saving 1n
operating expenditure excluding
depreciation was made in real terms
This bulds on previous improvements
and Network Rail has now made a

24 per cent efficiency saving over the
past three years, and 1s commitied to
meeting the ORR target of 31 per cent
efficiency improvement over five years
from Apri 2004

High levels of investment
in the railway assets
have continued during
the year, with £3.3bn
spent on the renewal
and enhancement of

the infrastructure.
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Chief Executive’s review

Train punctuality is at its
highest for more than
seven years, costs have
come down and the
railway is now safer than
it has ever been before.

These efficiency savings have
contributed to the substantial profit that
Network Rail 1s able to announce In
these accounts However the biggest
dniver of our improved financial
performance 1s a consequence of the
Company agreeing to defer some of its
income from the Government for the first
two years of the Control Period Dunng
this ime, Network Rall made significant
losses but to compensate, the Company's
income i1s now higher for the next three
years and this has contnbuted to our
move into profit On a post-tax basis,
Network Rail made profits of £1bn over
the year, as I1s detalled by the Group
Finance Director on page 10

Network Rail’s profits are not distributed
to shareholders but are used to either
reduce debt or re-invest in the railway
The Company's profitability has
contributed to a £3 3bn investment
pregramme and led to a reduced
borrowing requirement

Whilst the financial efficiency of Network
Rall has improved n the last year, the
financial efficiency index target has been
missed for the first tme Until February
the Company had been on course to
meet this target, however the financial
impact of the derailment at Grayngg
means the target was narrowly missed

Improving the railway assets
High levels of investment in the railway
assets have continued durning the year,
with £3 3bn spent on the renewal and
enhancement of the mnfrastructure
Indeed, over the last five years renewals
volumes have been at a higher level, on
a consistent and sustained basis, than
probably ever before This has been one
of the main contnbutors to the improving
safety and performance of the network
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in the last year, some 639 miles of new
rail, 528 miles of new ballast, and 476
units of new swiiches and crossings
have been laid These high volumes have
resulted in continued improvement in the
condition of the rallway assets Aside
from the substantial reduction in broken
rails which are detailed elsewhere, point
and track circuit fallures, and signalhing
fallures, continue to reduce, building on
the improvements of previous years

These improvements 1n asset condition
have resulted 1in Network Rall meeting
both its target, and its siretch target,
for asset condition

Growing the railway

As the performance of the railway has
improved In recent years, with much
improved punctuahty and comfortable
new rolling stock, passenger numbers
and the demand from freight has also
increased significantly In fact, passenger
numbers have increased by more than
50 per cent since the mid-1990s and the
network Is carrying more passengers
than at any time since 1946

It 1s vital that the railway industry
responds to this growing demand

with an ambitious agenda to grow the
capacity of the network Indeed the shift
in pronties towards growing capacity 1s
one of the main changes | have seen in
the last five years

Both short and long term solutions to the
capacity challenge are required In April,
Network Rail announced £2 4bn of
expenditure on enhancements over the
next two years to meet the short term
requirements for extra and longer
platforms, and for better station faciities
and improved infrastructure for freight
The longer-term solutions require a
funding decision from the Government
as part of the ORR's review of Network
Rail's funding regquirement for 2009/14
Network Rall will publish its long term
proposals for growing ihe railway 1n

the autumn




In Scotland the work to provide greater
capacity at Edinburgh Waverley has
contrnued m the last year In addition,
Network Rail was delighted to have
promoted the Bill to construct a new
railway line from Airdne to Bathgate
Approval from the Scottish Parliament
was received in March, and consiruction
of the new line will commence n the
coming year

The upgrade of the West Coast mainine
continues, with the four-tracking of the
Trent Valley progressing well and due
for completion during 2008/09 The line
upgrade has already delivered
substantial benefits to passengers,
inciuding reduced journey times Further
improvements including more frequent
services and further reductions in
journey times will come with the next
West Coast timetable change in
December 2008

Transforming Network Rail

When Network Rail took over
responsibility for the rail network, the
focus was nightly on fixing the problems
of the past Nearly five years on, attention
15 shifting to meeting the challenges of
the future

In order to equip Network Rail to meet
these future challenges the Company
has embarked on a transformation
programme to define our vision for the
future and develop the nght skills and
the night processes to deliver it

The programme will cover every aspect
of Network Rail's performance, and 1s
described in the 2007 Business Plan
The programme 1$ a response 1o the
need to create a sustainable transport
system for Britain with Network Rail
becoming a world class organisation
delivering for passengers and freight
users seven days a week

Outlook

It has been a pnivilege to lead Netwaork
Rail over the last five years, and ! shall
depart the Company with a mixture of
pnde and sadness We have achieved

a great deal together Train punctuality 1s
at Its highest for more than seven years,
cosis have come down and the railway
Is now safer than it has ever been before
| am proud to have played my part in this
success The railway is thrving and the
new challenge 15 to grow the network to
continue to meet the ever-nsing demand
from passengers and freight

I am very pleased o hand over the
reins to such an able successor as lan
Coucher The Network Rail team has
been a powerful one, and | know it will
go from strength to strength under his
leadership and meet the challenges of
the future

It1s hard to think of a group of
employees who are more passionate
about the service their Company
provides than those of Network Rail

| am honoured to have led them, and
know that thewr commitment to meet the
needs of rail users will be undiminished

John Armitt
Chief Executive
24 May 2007
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Group Finance Director’s review

Ron Henderson, Group Finance Director

Another year of real
cost reduction and
investment efficiency.

The year ended 31 March 2007 has produced a bottom line profit for the company,
as forecast in our business plan The key reason for this move from a loss making
position 1s the cessation of the revenue grant deferral agreed with the Department
for Transport (DfT) and the Office of Rail Regulation (ORR) but this should not
mask another year of real cost reduction and investment efficiency

It 15 important to rederate that the
challenge of meeting our efficiency
targets set by the ORR continues to be
our key financial focus Savings continue
to be delivered by our regime of strong
budgetary control, mimmising inefficient
and discretionary spend and improving
the understanding of our cost bases and
cost drivers We are still ahead of our
targeted efficiencies but the further
efficiencies required in years 4 and 5 of
the Control Pertod, 1n order to meet fully
the ORR’s challenge of 31 per cent
reductions by 31 March 2009, will
become progressively tougher to deliver
We remain committed to the delivery of
these financial targets, as outined In our
recently pubhshed Business Plan and
remain confident that they will be
substantially achieved

Financial performance

Financial highhghts

« Turnover was £5,795m, an increase of
£1,958m against pror year turnover of
£3.837m The substantial increase was
as a result of the cessation of revenue
grant deferral, the instigation of
repayments of the grant deferred in
years one and two of the control
penod and an increase In track access
charges as agreed in the CRR
determination,

operating costs before depreciation
totalled £2,462m, an increase of £31m
compared to the pnor year total of
£2,431m but a reduction in real terms
of some £63m,

Progress towards ORR's 31 per cent target

« profits of £47m were achieved from the
sale of properties (2005/06 £61m),
« net interest charges have increased to
£902m from £778m reflecting the
Increased average levels of debt in the
year and increased borrowing costs,
profit before tax was £1,478m
compared to a loss of £232m n the
prior year After a tax charge of £443m
(2005/06 £21m) profit for the year was
£1,035m {2005/06 loss of £253m),
+ net debt increased to £18 4bn from
£18 2bn In the year,
total non-current assets have
increased from £27 Sbn to £29 7bn
This includes investment properties
valued at £848m, an increase of £56m
from the previous year's valuation of
£892m and financial assets of £405m
(2005/06 £571m), and
» net assets at 31 March 2007 totalled
£5 66bn (2005/06 £4 36bn)

Performance against the ORR
Control Penod 3 determination
The table below outlines the outturn

{in 2006/07 prices) on the key areas of
expenditure for the business as defined
within the Access Charges Review 2003

Controllable opex and maintenance
costs fell 5 per cent In real terms over

the year Controllable opex saw savings
principally as a result of the continued
recduction of agency staff and contractors
and consultants, partly off-set by the
related increase in staff costs {Non-
controllable opex costs were higher than

310305 310306 310307 Cumulative
Category £m £m Em  progress
Controllable Opex 994 899 878 25%
Maintenance 1,352 1,238 1,146 24%"
Renewats {excluding West Coast) 1,721 2,077 2,419 23%
Cverall efficiency (ORR year 3 target 22%) 24%

* After accounting for the impact of traffic growth the saving increases to 26 per cent

10 Network Rail infrastructure Limited Annual Report and Accounts 2007




in 2005/06 and are currently 39 per cent
worse than the ORR determination which
Is primarily due to the increasing costs of
electncity Addiional expenditure was
also made on BT Police as part of our
programme {0 make stations safer for the
travelling public )

Maintenance costs continue to reduce
with more maintenance work being
delivered for less money Expenditure
has reduced as a result of embedding
the more favourable commercial terms
established last year Benefits were feit
from enhanced planning and subsequent
sharing of overheads as the capital
investment portfolio delivered by
maintenance increased Additionally
we continued to release labour and
specialist contractors and rely more

on our own In-house staff Work on the
maintenance unit cost (MUC) structure
has continued dunng 2006/07, with
consistency of methodology and

data input now being the key focus
Progressing this, and increasing the

53 per cent coverage of the MUC
framework, will continue during 2007/08

Assessing the efficiency of our renewals
programme 15 complex The level and
nature of activity that 1s required over the
Control Penod 1s not constant and trends
In expenditure alone cannot provide an
indication of efficiency Our efficiency
assessment draws on both unit cost
Indices and budget vanance analysis

The year under review delivered
substantial, cost-efficient investment
with some £3 3bn of renewals and
enhancements The increasing use of
innovative delivery and contracting
mechanisms, as well as the contnbution
from high-output plant and equipment, 1s
laying solic foundations to deliver further
efficiencies in the medium to long term
We have continued developing and
populating our Cost Analysis Framework,
which increasingly will provide consistent
votlume and unit cost collection, to
produce a central database of all
emerging actual data

We reported last year that it was
becoming apparent that we would
struggle to meet the ORR target on track

renewals and the year under review has
borre this out Whilst significant progress
has been made in improving the track
renewals performance delivered by
Network Rall and its supply base, 1t was
recognised earler this year that further
steps needed to be taken to continue to
dnive performance towards world class
standards and help us to realise our
targets These build on some of the
initiatives introduced over the past four
years, such as high output mecharusation
and future planned inhatives, such as
modular switches and crossings

We have completed the Southern Power
Upgrade project on time and below
budget The West Coast Route
Modernisation project has also seen
further successes this year as we
continue 1o deliver its outputs on time,
improving travelling times, relabiity and
punctuality of the service on the route
Although not without its difficulties, we
are striving to maintain focus on the
demanding savings Iin overall cost set
by the ORR

Key performance indicator —
Financial Efficiency Index
Despite an increase n efficiencies this
year the company falled for the first time
to deliver its targeted Financial Efficiency
Index (FEl) The FEI i1s a weighted index
of controllable opex, mantenance and
plain ine track renewal cosis which
broadly measures the value for money of
the company's spend in relation to prior
years This year’s target of 1,877
represented an improvement of 4 8 per
cent against the pror year gutturn of
1,872 and the final FEI at 31 March 2007
stands at 1,904, an actual improvement
of some 3 4 per cent Excluding the
impact of the derailment at Grayngg
would have resulted in an FEI of 1,874,
a reduction of 5 per cent and better
than the target for the year

Carrying value of the railway
network

The vaiue of rallway fixed assets has
increased by £2 31bn from £25 99bn to
£28 30bn The increase in the carrying
value reflects capital expendrture of

£3 3bn tess depreciation of £1 1bn and
a smali upwards revaluation of £0 1bn

Under depreciated replacement cost
accounting the network is valued in the
accounts at the lower of its same state
replacement cast {which 1s estimated at
circa £63bn) and its value in use This
value in use 1s based on a discounted
future cash flow that assesses the value
to the business of the net Income stream
produced by the railway network This Is
a function of the Reguiatory Asset Base
{RAB) set by the ORR and, as such, this
RAB 15 used as a proxy for that value
together with appropriate adjustment for
any forecast cash flow vanance from the
determination

Pensions

Included within the income statement
for the period 1s a charge of £104m
(2005/06 £136m) In respect of pension
costs of which £121m (2005/06 £115m)
represents service costs and £17mis a
net interest return on assets (2005/06
£21m loss} The balance sheet hability,
which represents the Company's share
(60 per cent) of the full deficit of the
Network Rail section of the Railway
Pension Scheme (RPS), fell from £359m
to £248m The scheme s still in deficit
and the latest accounting shortfall
represents 12 per cent of the total
scheme labilities

Taxation

For the first tme Network Rall has a
current corporation tax charge of £11m
on non trade iIncome (mainly property
sales) less advance corporation tax
which had previously been wniten off of
£7m leaving a liability payable of £4m
The main trade income 15 covered by tax
losses brought forward There 1s also a
hability in respect of Interest recevable
from Network Rail Holdco PLC against
which group relief will be clamed

The remaining charge 1s a deferred tax
lability of which £424m arises prnimarily
as a result of timing differences ansing
from accelerated tax depreciatior and
utihsation of brought forward trading
losses
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Group Finance Director's review

The Chancellor's Budget in March 2007
proposed certain changes i relation to
future corporation tax rates and future
capital allowances As these changes
were not substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date their impact has not
been recognised in these accounts

Cash flow

Dunng the year the Company's operating
activities generated cash of £2 4bn
{2005/06 £0 7bn) Spending on fixed
assets totalled £3 3bn (2005/06 £3 1bn)

Accounting policies
Significant accounting palicies are set
out In Note 2 to the financial statements

Funding

Network Rail's pnincipal financing vehicle
1s Network Rail Infrastructure Finance
PLC (NRIF), a special purpose financing
company, which acts as the 1ssuer
under Network Rail's Debt Issuance
Programme (DIP) and 15 not @ member
of the Network Rail group, although for
accounting purposes NRIF 1s treated

as a subsidiary in the consolidated
accounts of Network Rail Infrastructure
Limited

The DIP s supported by a financial
indemnity from the Secretary of State for
Transport which expires in 2052 As at
31 March 2007, all Network Rail's debt
sits under the DIP other than £4 8bn
equivalent of medium term notes which
sit under Network Rail MTN Finance PLC
Within the DIP 1s a £20bn note
programme which has been highly rated
(AAA by Standard and Poors, Aza by
Moody's and AAA by Fitch)

The DIP allows access, through a single
platform, to the widest possible sources
of funding, at the lowest possible cost,
including the long term capital markets
This gives Network Rail a stable base
for funding a continuing programme

of long term investment in the national
rall network

Dunng the year ended 31 March 2007
£3bn of bonds have been 1ssued under
the DIP in a number of currencies

(£ Sterling, US Dollars, Australian Dollars,

Japanese Yen, Norwegian Krone and
Swiss Francs) and in a number of
matunties All non-sterling public
Issuance under the programme was
swapped into fixed sterling interest rates
as at the balance sheet date to protect
against movements in interest and
foreign exchange rates

The Company had £5bn of undrawn
committed facilities avaitable at 31 March
2007 through the DIP working captal
facility (E1bn) and the Secretary of State
for Transport standby facility A (£4bn)
The Secretary of State for Transport
standby facility 1s undrawn and will only
be called upon as a last resort

In April 2007 Network Rail launched a
new programme of RPI index-linked
bond issuance under the Company's
Debt Issuance Programme The majonty
of Network Rail's revenues are linked to
inflation so aligning debt cost to Income
IS a prudent, cost effective way of
financing the rallways over the long term

Financial instruments

The Group and Company uses denvative
financial instruments to reduce exposure
to foreign exchange nisk and interest rate
movements This 1s in accordance with

a comprehensive nsk management
process which 1s monitored by the Board
and includes documented treasury
policies, counterparty mits, controlling
and reporting structures

Denvative financial Instruments are
marked to market in accordance with |AS
(International Accounting Standards) 39
Financial Instruments Recogniton and
Measurement and their value 1s shown on
the face of the balance sheet Those that
are designated as part of a cash flow
hedge accounting arrangement are
measured for effectiveness and tg the
extent that they are statistically effective, in
removing foreign exchange and interest
rate risk, these movermnents are reflected in
the hedge reserve and shown on the face
of the statement of recognised income
and expense (SORIE) It should be noled
that changes in the value of a hedging
denvative should mirror movements in
the value of the underiying hedged item
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Movements in fair value on instruments
that qualify for cash flow hedge
accouniing under |AS 39 are recognised
directly in equity to the extent the hedging
15 effective for accounting purposes
These movements are reflected in the
SORIE Instruments not qualifying for
cash flow hedge accounting and
ineffective portions of hedge
relationships are recorded in the income
staternent The Group has successfully
implemented hedge accounting for its
Medium Term Note and Debt Issuance
Programme bonds The net fair value of
denvatives on the Group’s balance sheet
at 31 March 2007 was a lability of £262m
(2005/06 asset of £68m) based on a
notional value of swaps of £11 8bn
(2005/06 £9 8bn) The net mpact on

the Group's Income statement of 1AS 32
Financial Instruments Disclosure and
Presentation and IAS 3% in the year
ended 31 March 2007 was an expense
of £256m (2005/06 £10m)

In the year the SORIE shows that Group's
cash flow hedges reduced In value by
£183m This was largely due to the
strength of sterling, particularly against
the US dollar As a result £351m of
foreign exchange gains (in the underlying
debt being hedged were also recognised
In reserves and the SORIE The reason
that the gains and losses In the accounts
are not equal and opposite 1s that the
hedging instrument protects against
movements In interest rates as well as
foreign exchange It follows that if the
value of the denvative was spht into its
constituent parts it would show around
£351m of foreign exchange gains
foregene and around £168m of
additional interest saved

Treasury operations

The Group’s treasury operations are co-
ordinated and managed in accordance
with policies and procedures approved
by the Board Treasury 1s subject to
regular internal audits and does not
engage In trades of a speculative nature

Group policy 1s o ensure that there

are sufficient facilities and short-term
investments to cover, as a minimum, the
next 12 months’ funding requirements




The major financing nsks that the Group
faces are its interest rate fluctuation nsk
and hquidity nsk Treasury ensures
sufficient hquidity 1s available to meet the
Group's needs, while reducing financial
risks and prudently maximising interest
recevable on surplus cash

Counterparty imits are set with reference
to published credit ratings These Imits
dictate how much and for how long
Treasury may deal with each counterparty
and are monitored on a regular basis

The Group's pnmary hquidity 1s provided
by committed bank faciliies At 31 March
2007, the Group had £1bn in undrawn
committed bank facilities The Group also
has access to ¢ £750m bank facility
which 15 used to support the Company's
commercial paper programme

Summary

The year under review, in financial terms,
has been a year of sohid and anticipated
progress We have continued the
efficiency dnve towards meeting the ORR
target of 31 per cent and made further
inroads in terms of establishing a unit
costing framewaork for our key areas of
investment and maintenance spend
Similarty good progress has been made
in our planning for Control Penod 4

Our financial focus going forward remains
to deliver the final savings to meet the
targets set by ORR and to secure an
eqiitable and deliverable determination
fof the five years to 31 March 2014

i hede

Ron Henderson
Group Finance Direclor
24 May 2007

The year under review, in
financial terms, has been
a year of solid and
anticipated progress.
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Directors’ report

Under its network licence the Company 1s required to publish such corporate
governance information as would be required If 1t was a listed company and also
to comply with the pninciples of good governance and code of best practice under,
or approved for the purposes of, the histing rules of the Financial Services Authonty

As such, 1t is publishing this Report
and audited Accounts which contain
information required to be disclosed
by a listed company

Details of the Group's business activities,
key events and changes dunng the year
and likely future developments are
contained In the Chairman’s statement,
the Chief Executive's review and the
Group Finance Director's review This
report should also be read in conjunction
with the Corporate Governance Report
and the Directors' Remuneration Report

Business review and principal

activities

Network Rail infrastructure Limited has

responsibility for the management of the

national rall infrastructure Its principal

activities are the operation, mamntenance,

renewal and, in co-operation with tran

operators and funders, the development

or enhancement of the naticnal rall

network and in particular

= provision to train operators of ralway
track access,

- management of {rain tmetabling,
train planning and signalling, and

+ maintenance, renewal and
enhancement of the infrastructure
and undertaking major capital
programmes

In June 2005 the relevant provisions of
the Railways Act 2005 came Iinto force
facitating a number of significant
changes to the structure and
organisation of the rallway These
included giving Network Rail additional
responsibilities for industry performance,
planning and projects The changes are
designed to deliver improvements in
reliability and the effectiveness of
industry planning, bullding on the already
close collaboration between Network Rai!
and train cperators

Significant events subsequent
to 31 March 2007

On 3 Apnl 2007 Network Rall launched
its Business Plan 2007 articulating the
priorities for Network Rall over the current
regulatory Control Period

Results

The profit before tax was £1,478m
(2005/06 loss of £232m) and the profit
after tax was £1,035m (2005/06 loss of
£253m) Further details of the financial
results can be found n the financial
statements commencing on page 42

Share capital

50,084,937 ordinary shares of 0 1p

and 160,000,000 redeemable shares

of £1 of the Company are held by its
immediate parent company Network Rail
Holdco Limited

Key future issues

Network Rail's key priority s to deliver
a safe, relable and efficient railway
working with our industry partners to
provide acceptable and improving levels
of performance Looking forward it
intends to achieve further sustainable
improvements for its customers,
employees and wider stakeholders as
well as seeking ways to meet where
possible the increases in demand for
both passenger and freight traffic

With its responsibilities relating 1o the
national rait network (including the
additional responsibilities for industry
performance, planning and projects
placed upon it as a conseguence of the
2004 Rall Review), Network Rail has a
pivotal role in a complex industry The
way In which It looks after Its assets
affects a wide range of people anc
Network Rall works collaboratively with
its customers and funders to facilitate
the delivery of their plans It needs also
to work with s stakeholders to take
account, where possible, of the wider
social impacts of the operation of the
national rail infrastructure

Of the 1ssues facing Network Rail in the
future the following are key to the
deliverability of its objectives

Safety

Rall travel 1s safer than it has ever been
and safety remains Network Rail's tnghest
prionty The Rall industry’s Annual Safety
Performance report published in May
2006 identified rail as the safest form of
transport in Bntain The tragic incident
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in Cumbnia on 23 February this year
15 a reminder, however, of the need
for constant vigllance 1n maintaining
the safety of the rallway

Continuing improvement has been made
over the past four years in most of the
key safety performance indicators The
nsk from signals passed at danger s
down 90 per cent since 2001, due largely
to the introduction of technology — TPWS
and TPWS+ The number of troken rails
Is at an all time low

There was no workforce fatality in
2006/07 and the safety environment

for working on the raitway 1S improving
This 1s due 1n part to safety awareness
campaigns focusing on raising the profile
of safety within Network Rail and
contractor teams and other inibiatives
designed to develop safety cultural and
behavioural changes The workforce
accident rate has declined markedly
over the last two years, and improved

by a further 25 per cent in the past year
At the end of 2006/07 the rate was down
to less than O 3 reportavle accidents per
100,000 hours worked Sadly in April
2007 an employee died whilst working
on the track Constant attention to this
important aspect of the railway I1s
required and the Company remains
committed to on-going focus on safer
working practices

Network Rail’s ‘Safety in the Line’
programme was implemented duning
the year This is designed to embed
safety accountability improvements and
decision-making more fully into the key
delivery functions within the Company
It represents the most sigruficant
component of Network Rail's strategy
to deliver a step change in safety
performance

The biggest risk on the railway 1s now

at level crossings and duning last year
Network Rail launched a national level
crossing awareness campaign Lobbying
by Network Rail also resulted in
addiional provisions being included

In new road safety legislation amed

at assisting the reduction of this nsk
Additional level crossing nsk reduction




initiatives also continue to be developed
including the evaluation of new detection
iechnologies

Service rehability and network
capacity

Punctualty on the railway Is at a seven
year high The average punctuality over
the past year was above 88 per cent
Network Rail 1s predicting to hit its target
of 90 per cent before the end of the
current Control Period (31 March 2008)

Performance continues, however, to

be a challenge The mprovemenis in
performance to date are the result of

the hard work of everyone involved in
the operation and management of the
rallways — both Network Rail and the train
operators Joint planning and delivery
processes between Network Rail and the
tramn operators have contributed 1o this,
as has the introduction of integrated
control centres and bringing
mantenance in-house

This improvement in performance

has come about despite continuous
increases in the number of tran services
using the network The demand for rall
has grown strongly over the last ten years
for both passengers and freight services
This trend in passenger demand has
continued over the past year with all
sectors showing a growth 1n total
passenger kilometres, total passenger
Journeys and revenue compared to the
previous year This demand for raif travel
has been reflected in the continued
Increase in timetabled train kilometres
operated on the network Likewise, both
freight moved and hfted have mirrored
past trends and grown over the past year

As a consequence, the network is
increasingly congested and at peak
times of the day there is no spare
capacity on certain sectors of the
network Levels of overcrowding are
worsening as a conseqguence of this
demand As well as the effect on train
passenger capacity this demand ts also
creating increasing congestion on the
station platforms and concourses

For the longer term Network Rail is
developing plans with train operators and
funders to increase capacity Key to
understanding the options to address
these 1ssues 1$ the programme of Route
Utilisation Strategles (RUSs) which we
are taking forward in conjunction with our

industry partners These take a strategic
look at the rail network and its timetable
and form the analytical and consultation
process by which options are evaluated
to balance capacity, passenger and
freight demand, operational performance
and cost

Implementing the necessary
enhancements of the infrastructure to
cope with the nsing demand will require
the industry to achieve a consensus on
the nght solutions These solutions must
offer good value for money and be
affordable to funders Proposals for this
will be set out in Network Rall's Strategic
Busimness Plan to be published in October
2007

Asset stewardship

One of the major components of
Network Raill's improvement plans 1s
reliabity and long term sustainability

of the network This requires successful
delivery of Network Rail's asset
management responsibilites within the
constraints of the available funds as well
as being consistent with the reasonable
requirements of its stakeholders
Development and implementation of

the asset management activites involves
comprehensive understanding of the
cnterna and systematic organisation in
their delivery Focus 1s on tackiing the
root causes of long-standing 1ssues that
affect asset performance In particular,
components that are not sufficiently
reliable will be progressively replaced
The rate of improvement, however, will
Inevitably be slow This year's experience
has shown that several of the measures
for asset reliability are now at a level
where the impact of adverse weather
can significantly affect the performance
measures This provides both nsk and
opportunities with strategies being
developed to minimise the effects of
adverse weather wherever possible

Recognising that some of the measures
used o monttor asset stewardship may
be nearng the end of therr useiulness
(because they are stabilising at optimum
levels), Network Rail has started a review
of these measures {o determine what wiil
be more fit for purpose for the next
Control Period It 1s anticipated that these
will measure precursors to fature, rather
than failures themselves This is in line
with our strateqy of “predict and prevent”
rather than *find and fix"

Efficiency

Exceilent progress has been made

in delivering efficiency savings with
reductions 1n both Network Rail’s cost
base and the unit cost of Investment
in the railway being achieved

Technological innovation 1s an integral
part of improving the business Network
Rail 1s engaging with European rail
bodies to examine long term asset
strategies, and working with suppliers
and acaderma te explore climate change
and sustainability improvements Itis also
examining the opportunities afforded by
improved communication technology and
explonng the application to the rallway of
innovations developed in oiher industries

There 15 a challenge, however, to
delivering the further savings which are
required In the remainder of this Control
Penod Also beyond this, Network Rall
needs to focus on what can be achieved
in the next Control Period We need to
reach a challenging but realistic view

of our plans and provide evidence to
Justify thus view to help inform the ORR'’s
review process which will lead to its
determination for the next Control Penod
(the 2008 Periodic Review)

Sustainability

Transport has a major role to play 10
supporting economic, environmental and
social objectives Given that rail transport
itself 1s more sustainable than alternative
modes for many transport needs, the rail
industry must promote rail usage by
improving the raif product and its
affordability in order for it to contribuie

to sustainability

Funding and financing

Network Rail's net debt was £18 4bn

at 31 March 2007 and 1s forecast to
increase to over £20 4bn by March 2008
and by the end of this Control Penod
reach £21 9bn This 15 less than forecast
at the time of the last access charges
review It 1s anticipated that around
£10bn will need 1o be raised over the
next two years through a combination of
public and pnivate bonds 1ssued under
the debt 1ssuance programme to cover
the refinancing of existing debt as well
as funding working capital Hedging
arrangements have been put in place

to fix the Company’s interest cosis
Discussions are also taking place with
Government and the ORR In relation to
the possibility of raising debt without
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the benefit of the Government indemmity
in the context of wider discussions on
Control Penod 4 Further detalls of
funding arrangements are set out In

the Notes to the financial sitatements

Stakeholder relationships and
transformation

In the last couple of years Network Rall
has built much better relationships with
its stakeholders It recognises, however,
the need for continuing to strengthen this
with rail users, its customers - the train
operators, 1ts wider stakeholders —
government, funders, taxpayers, its
supplers and its staff To achieve the
goal of an affordable and sustainable
rallway requires these stakeholders'
support and cooperation

To delwer this Network Rail must have
the nght leadership and management
and have people who share the same
values and behaviours to create a world
class organisation A transformation
programme |s being developed to
achieve this but this will take tme and
commitment throughout the Company
to deliver

Long-term planning

The challenges Network Rail faces
require it to work with its industry
partners to develop the night framework
and culture in order to create and deliver
the nght whole industry solutions which
represent best value, most cost-effective
and sustainable strategies for the
industry These plans must inform and
take account of the high level
specifications from Government and the
requirements of our other stakeholders

In readiness for the 2008 Penodic
Review, Network Rail 1s working closely
with the Department for Transport and
Transpart Scotland to support the
development of their High Level Quiput
Specifications and associated funding
With the train operators we are also
developing the appropriate whote
Industry strategies to deliver the required
outputs at an affordable price Plans for
this wilt be set out in Network Rail's
Strategic Business Plan in October 2007

Performance indicators

The ORR sets certain regutatory financial
and non-financial performance targets
for Network Rail The key perdormance
indicators (KPIs) are summansed in the
table below

Further details can be found in the
narrative below the tables and alsc more
informaton s contained in the Bustness
Plan 2007

Performanca indicators Notes 200607 2005106 2004108
Safety

Public Salety Index 1 0581 0543 0503
Performance

Train Defay Minutes (milhion mins ) 2 105 105 115
Public Performance Measure 3 881% B8B64% 836%
Asset stewardship

Asset Stewardship Incentive Index***" 4 072 080 090
Financial control

Financial Efficiency Index*** 5 1,904 1,972 2,144

—_

In 2005/06 RSSB changed the method of calculation of the Public Safety Index The figures quoted for

2006/07 and 2005/06 are based on the new calculabion and are therefore not comparable with those shown

for 2004/05

2 Train Delay Minutes are the number of minutes of train delays aitnbutable to Network Rail (rather than
the train operating companies) as defined in the contractual performance regime with operators

3 Public Performance Measure 1s the overall rail industry key perdermance indicator measunng punctuahty
and rehability of train performance [t shows the percentage of trains that arnve ‘on tme at their final
destinahon compared to the number of frans planned {o run on a given day ‘On ime means arnval within
10 minutes of the planned destination time for long distance operators and within 5 minutes for London and

south east or regional operators

4 Asset Stewardship Incentive Index 15 an index proposed by the ORR 1n its December 2003 access charges
review The components of this index and weightings are track geometry index (20 per cent) number of
broken rails (15 per cent), Level 2 exceedences (15 per cent), total number of signalling failures {15 per
cent) wrong side signaliing failures - hazard rating 20 or above (15 per cent), struciure and earthworks
train speed restnctions {10 per cent), and traction power supply fallures AC and DC (10 per cent)

5 Financial Efftciency Index 1s a measure of the efficiency of operations mantenance track renewals

and other key central expenditure

* To 31 December 2006
** To 31 December 2005
*** To 31 December 2004
**** A lower figure represents an improvement

Safety

Steady progress has been made in most
of the key safety performance indicators
as shown below

Safaty Indicators 2006107 2005106 2004105
Workforce fataliies Q 4 2
Severe Caiegory A SPADs* 19 98 13
Broken rails 192 317 322
Colhisions at level crossings 12 15 17
Significant train accrdents 31 24 4i
Passenger accidental fatalities*™ 7 3 9

* SPAD = signal passed at danger Frgure for 2006/07 s based on a new calculation and therefore 1s not
comparable with those shown for 2004/05 and 2005/06 Current measurement is based on a 100 point scale

* One of the passenger fatalites in 2006/07 was caused by a tra:n accident Five of the passenger fatalives
1n 2004/05 and none in 2005/06 were caused by train accidents
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Train performance

There are two measures relating to tran
perormance - Train Delay Minutes being
the number of minutes of train delays
attributable to Network Rail and Public
Performance Measure (PPM) being the
percentage of trains arnving on time at
therr final destination

In 2003 the ORR set a target for the
Company to improve the reliability of
the network by more than 30 per cent
by 2008/09 Over the last three years,
reliabiity has improved significantly and
total delays caused by Network Rail in
2006/07 are arourd 10 5 millon minutes
and this 1s reflected in PPM which has
improved to 88 1 per cent Whilst this1s
in ine with last year, it reflects a widely
different performance between areas
directly In Network Rail's control and the
impact of external events Looking
forward the Company 1s aiming to
achieve the target set by the ORR for
2008/09 a year early and also will seek
to beat this target

Asset stewardship

The Asset Stewardship Incentive Index s
a basket of measures which are intended
to capture the underlying condition of
Network Rail's assets This index
continues to be significantly better than
the ORR target and even better than the
more challenging targets set In Network
Rall's business plans and management
ncentive plans In 2006/07 there was a
particularly strong performance in the
incidences of broken rails which are at
ther lowest ever level

The targets for two elements of this
index have been revised As a result of
significant improvement 1n the number
of level two exceedences and track
geometry in 2006/07 and further
opportunities to correct underlying
causes of track geometry faults, these
targets have been made tougher for
the next two years

Some of the asset fallure measures

have not improved as much as
anticipated Signalling, points and track
circult fallures were all affected by the
exceptional hot weather dunng last
summer It is anticipated that current
delivery plans will recover the lost ground
and so the same target for 2006/07 has
been kept for 2007/08

Financial efficiency

The Financial Efficiency tndex (FEI) 1s a
measure of how efficiently Network Rail
spends on operations, mantenance and
track renewals As efficiency improves
the Company should spend less 1o
deliver the same outputs and therefore
the FEI should reduce The current
measure has imitations in that it anly
covers 60 per cent of the total operating,
maintenance and renewals expenditure
Network Rallis committed to increasing
coverage and, as a result, has revised
the defintion for 2007/08 to cover 68 per
cent of this expenditure Work continues
to further widen the FEI in the future Also
to make the measure more meaningful
over ime the FEI has been turned into an
index with the outturn for 2003/04 being
equal to 100

Business performance

Network Rail believes that business
performance iImprovement 1s dependent
In part on the development of key skills
and behaviours of employees To
mprove these, iInvestment 1s being made
in a range of programmes

To measure progress in behaviours an
employee engagement survey has been
developed This survey I1s conducted
each year, the most recent being In
December 2006

The results of this latest survey showed
improvement in employee engagement
against the previous results although
faling short of the target Further
improvement 1s now being sought with
a programme of communication of the
results of the survey together with
training and aciion plans to increase
employee engagement The next survey
1S scheduled to be conducted in
December 2007 with further surveys
planned for subsequent years

Environment

Netwark Rail’'s approach 1s to focus on
the key environmental 1ssues facing it as
operator of the rail infrastructure but also
the 1ssues facing society as a whole -
clmate change, waste, biodiversity and
land management It 1s commiited to the
on-going mprovement of the railway's
existing environmental record

Its response to the challenge of
managing environmental nsk inciudes
improving the lineside environment with

a policy of vegetation management that
balances the responsibility to provide

a safe and retiable railway whilst
acknowledging the benefits of minimising
the impact on the naiural habitat Its work
with English Nature in this area

continues Waste management s also
important with schemes in place to
improve responsible waste handling and
recycling both by the Company and by
its contractors Chmate change s also
an ongoing focus with participation In
research programmes organised by
various specialist bodies Likewise
energy and water usage are subjects

of ongoing programmes of reduction

Pilans are being developed to create a
framework within which environmental,
socletal and economic impacts are
considered with a view to continuing to
develop rail as a sustainable form of
transport

Health and safety

The health and safety of the Company’s
employees, whilst working within the
business, and the pubhc, whilst travelling
on the railway infrastructure, are of
great importance to Network Rail The
Company's policies and procedures
relating to health and safety at work
recognise the requirements of current
leqistation and are kept under constant
review with the aim of prowiding a safe
working environment for all employees
Significant resource 1s committed to
safety, health and environmental matiers
and Network Rail aspires to continuing
improvement of its performance in
these areas Further details of safety
perfermance s set out on page 16 as
well as in the Chief Executive’s review
on page 6

Previous incidents

In October 2006 Network Rail
Infrastructure Limited pleaded guilty

to a health and safety charge in relation
to the Ladbroke Grove collision in October
1993 On 30 March 2007 it was fined

£4 milhon in respect of this charge The
derailment which took place at Potters
Bar in May 2002 1s the subject of
continuing HMRI investigations, the
outcome 1s unknown at present The
derallment in Cumbria in February 2007
1s afso the subject of investigation by the
ORR as safety regulator, the outcome 1s
unknown at present
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Corporate social responsibility
Network Rail 1s committed to carrying
out Its activities in a socially responsible
manner in respect of customers,
stakeholders, employees and local
communities As part of its objective

of operating In a transparent and
accountable environment, a report on
these aspects within its business will

be published in the autumn of 2007

Network Rall also has an environmental
policy as detaled in its Corporate
Responsibility Report 2006 This I1s
currently being reviewed

Code of business conduct
The Company has adopted a code of
business conduct that 1s applicable to
all employees

Research and development
During the year the Company charged
£1m to the Income statement

(2005/06 £2m) on research and
deveiopment Other costs relating to
significant development work have been
capitalised In tangible fixed assets

Directors and their interests
The Directors of the Company were
appointed on the dates as shown in
the table above

Under the provistons of the Articles of
Association of Network Rail Limited all
Directors, except the Special Director

(f appointed - there being no Special
Director at the time of publication of this
report), must retire by rotation, and may
stand (together with any new Director
appointed since the last general
meeting) for re-election by the Members
of that Company at least every three
years Save as shown In the table above
there were no other changes to the
Board during the year

The biographical details of the Directors
can be found on pages 20 ard 21

Directors’ interests
The Directors have no interest in the
Company

Data of first Next due dats
Current Directors Position appointment for re-alaction
lan McAlister Charrman 22 March 2002 July 2009
John Armitt Chief Executive 3 October 2002 See Note 1
lain Coucher Deputy Chief Executive 22 March 2002 July 2009
Peter Henderson Group Infrastructure 1 October 2002 July 2007
Director
Ron Henderson Group Finance Director 12 August 2002 July 2008
David Bailey Non-Executive Director 15 August 2002 July 2008
Rob den Besten Non-Executive Director 24 September 2003 See Note 2
lan Buchan Non-Executive Director 5 February 2006 July 2009
Yvonne Constance Non-Executive Director 1 May 2005 July 2008
Jim Cornell Non-Executive Director 3 October 2002 July 2009
Michael Firth Non-Executive Director 4 December 2004 July 2008
Chnstopher Green Non-Executive Director 26 June 2005 July 2008
Charles Hoppe Non-Executive Director 1 August 2002 See Note 3

Notes
1 John Armitt will be retinng with effect on 31 July 2007

2 Rob den Besten will be retinng with effect on 30 June 2007
3 Charles Hoppe will be retinng with effect on 18 July 2007

Employees

Detalls of the number of employees and
related costs are set out In Note 7 to the
financial statements on page 50

Network Rail recognises the role of its
employees in enabling the Company to
achieve its business objectives This i1s
reflected in the Board's commitment to
equal opportunities and effective
employee commumications

Network Rail befieves that success in
achieving its objectives Is influenced
significantly by the skills, behaviour and
attitude of its employees Substantial
investment 1s being dedicated by the
Company to deliver high quality,
accredited training and development
programmes as a pnmary means of
stimulating cultural change and
management competence Development
programmes from apprenticeship
schemes through to leadership skills
are being implemenied
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Eifective communicalion in raising the
level of employee engagement I1s also
important To do this a wide range of
communications media 1S being used,
encompassing local information
cascades and briefings, videos, the
Company newspaper, email news
bulletins, electronic data links and
briefings by the Directors to reach all our
employees During the Business Briefings
conducted in January 2007 over 11,000
employees were able to attend the
geographically spread briefings at

which the Company's safety and
operational performance were discussed
and employees had the opportunity to
question the Executive Directors and
Chairman on any aspect of the business
that they chose to raise To monitor our
progress we also conduct an annual
survey of employee engagement with an
active follow-up programme to address
practical 1Issues




There I1s also a strong belief by the Board
of the Company In the importance of
consuliation on 1ssues affecting the
workforce Frequent consultabon and
information sharing s conducted
therefore at regular intervals through
both national and local procedures with
representatives from Network Rail and
trades unions

Our equal opportunities pohcy 1s
communicated to employees We are
committed to offering our employees

a fulfiling and challenging career in an
environment free from discnimination,
harassment, victimisation and bullying
Network Rall continues to work with
trades untons In the area of equality of
opportunity and devetopment of policy
to promote best practice within the
business

Employee review processes are in place
to allow every individual manager to
discuss key performance 1ssues in a
structured, fair and consistent way and to
identify training and development needs

Contributions for charitable
and political purposes

During the year the Company donated
£496,000 to chantable organisations
{2005/06 £480,000) A {uriher
£477,000 (2005/06 £406,000) was used
to sponsor charntable and community-
related activities

In Iine with the Company's policy, no
donations to political parties were made
in either year

Under company law disclosure s
required of particulars of any donations
to any EU political organisation and EU
political expenditure incurred The
definition of these types of donation 1s
uncertain On one stnct interpretation the
Company made payments durnng this
year which may fall within the meaning
of this type of donation These payments
form part of the work Network Rail does
with community representatives such

as elected representatives {Members

of Parlsament, Members of the Scottish
Executive, Welsh Assembly and London
Assembly, regional assemblies, local
councis and others) as well as non-
government crganisations, pressure
groups and campaigning organisations
This work includes meetings to discuss

Issues facing the Company and those
using the rail nfrastructure, both
passengers and {reight customers
nationally and regionally Opportunity I1s
also taken to explain the Business Plan,
operational performance and significant
developments within the business These
are sometimes best achieved through
the Company organising briefings and
similar functions at which presentations
are given or attendance takes place at
party political conferences and events

Creditors payment policy

It 1s our policy, with respect to payment
of our suppliers, to settle the terms of
payment when agreeing the terms of
each transaction where standard terms
are not used, to ensure that suppliers
are made aware of the terms of payment
and to abide by the terms of payment

At 31 March 2007 the Company's
creditor days compared with the value
of suppliers’ invoices received In the
year was 51 days (2005/08 49)

Auditors

At the next Annual General Meeting of
Network Rail Limited on 18 July 2007,

a resolution will be proposed to reappoint
Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Group's
auditors and to authorise the Directors to
fix their remuneration Detalls of the fees
earned by Deloitte & Touche LLP during
ihe penod, for both audit and non-audit
work, are set out In Note 6 on page 49

Pursuant to the Companies Act Section
234 ZA each of the Directors confirms
that, so far as he or she Is aware, there I1s
no relevant audit information of which the
Company's auditors are unaware and
that he or she has taken all responsible
steps in order to make himself or herself
aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the Company's
auditors are aware of that information

By order of the Board

e

Hazel Walker
Secretary
24 May 2007
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Board of Directors

lan McAllister CBE

Chairman {2, 4)*

lan McAllister, 63, is the
Company’s Non-Executive
Chairman having previcusly been
Chairman and Managing Director
of Ford Motor Company Limited
lan Is also Charman of the
Carbon Trust, a Director of the
Energy Savings Trust, a Director
of UCL Business plc and Senior
Independent Non-Executive
Dhrector of Scottish & Newcastle
plc lan1s a member of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales’ Corporate
Responsibiity Advisory Group

lan Buchan

Non-Executive Director (2)"

lan Buchan, €0, wined the Board
In 2006 after retinng as Chief
Execuive of Natronal Express's
trains division He was previously
Business Development Direclor at
FirstGroup He s a director of
Manchester Schoot of Flying and
serves on a number of committees
at Manchester Arport Onginally
an economics graduate fan has
also been a school governor

John Armitt CBE

Chief Executve (3, 5, 6)*

John Armitt, 61, 1s the Cheef
Executive of Network Rall He will
retire from this role in July 2007 A
cvil engineer by traiming, John had
a 27 year career with John Laing
Construction workung on major
projects in the UK and around the
world, including power stations,
oll ngs, petrot-chemical plants,
arrports, roads, bridges and
hospitals He was Chief Execulive
of Costain Group PLC, and before
that Chief Executive of Union
Raillways He has recently been
appointed Chair of the
Engineenng and Physical Sciences
Council and from September 2007
will be Chair of the Olympic
Development Authonty

Yvonne Constance OBE
Non-Executive Director (1, 2)*
Yvonne Constlance, 64, joined the
Board in 2005 having previousty
been Charman of the National
Electncity Consumers' Council
between 1995 and 1939,

a Non-Executive Director of
Innogy plc from 2000 to 2002 and
a Non-Executive Director of St
Mary s Hospital NHS Trust Untl
Its cessation 1n 2005 she was also
a member of the Greater London
Magistrates’ Courts' Authonty,

as well as bemng a Justice of the
Peace since 1976 and, in the
1880s, practised as a barnster
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lan Coucher

Deputy Chief Executive (3)*

lain Coucher, 45, 15 Deputy Chigf
Executive with responsibility for
operaticnal matters and will take
over from John Armitt as Chief
Executive in July 2007 Previcusly
he was Chief Executive of Tube
Lines For 16 years, he worked for
EDS His career has included
expenence in the transportation
sector, particularly with London
Underground He was seconded
to the TranSys consortium
between 1996 and 1998 as its
Chief Executive and led the
development of the Underground s
smartcard ticketing system lain s
an Engineenng graciuate from
Impenal College London and also
has an MBA

Michael Firth

Non-Executive Director {1, 2, 6)*
Michael Firth, 64, joined the Board
n 2004 having previously been
Head of Corporate Banking at
HSBC Bank plc until his retirement
in September 2002 He s alsoa
Non-Executive Director of
Communisis plc and Garimore
European Investment Trust plc

He was previously a Non-
Executive Direcior of Somerfield
plc and a director of First
Technology PLC Michaelis an
Associate of the Chartered
Instiiute of Bankers

Ron Henderson

Group Finance Director (3, 6)*
Ron Henderson, 61, was formerly
Group Finance Director of BICC
ple, Fmance Director of Baifour
Beatty, and most recently Chief
Executive of Tuberall one of the
bidders for the London
Underground public pavate
partnership Pnor to this, Ron,

a Scottish Chartered Accountant
was at Halliburton, Brown and Root
and earlier with Arthur Andersen

Christopher Green
Non-Executive Direcior (2, 5)*
Chnstopher Green, 63, joined

the Board in 2005 following his
retirement as Chairman of Virgin
Rail Group Chns has over 40
years of railway expenence,
having joined British Rail upon
leaving university He held vanous
management positions Including
Managing Director of Netwark
SouthEast and Intercity He was
Chief Executive of Virgin Trains
from 1999 to 2004 Chns was also
Chief Executive of English
Hentage, a non-executive director
of Eurotunnel and 1s a Trustee of
the Liverpool Royal Philharmonic
Orchestra




Peter Henderson

Projects and Engtneenng
Director (3)*

Peter Henderson 53, 1s Network
Rai's Projects and Engineenng
Director Peter has over 20 years'
rail expernence, most recentty at
Bechtel where he was Projects
Director, Rail, which included
responsibility for engineenng

He spent 16 years with the Hong
Kong Mass Transit Rallway
Corporation, latterly as Head

of Major Projects

Charles Hoppe

Non-Executive Director (2, 5)*
Charles Hoppe 72 joined the
Board in 2002 and is the former
Vice President, Operatons and
Facilities Planning, United States
Raiway Association, Senior Vice
President of Booz, Allen &
Hamilton s worldwide rail
consulting practice and President
of the Long Island Rail Road
Chuck has an MBA from Harvard
Business School and was on the
Adwvisory Board of the School of
Cwil Engineenng at Purdue
University and on the Board of
Trustees of the Nat:onal Raifroad
Library, University of Missoun

{St Lows) Charles will be retinng
from the Board on 18 July 2007

Jim Cornell

Non-Executive Director (2, 4, 5)*
Jm Cornell, 67, joined Brivsh Rail
{BR}) in 1959 as a student civil
engineer before taking up vanous
posibions in BRincluding General
Manager of Scotrail, Director of
Cwil Engineering and latterly
Group Managing Director of
Brtish Rail Infrastructure Services
between 1993 and 1996 Hers
also Executive Director of the
Rallway Hentage Trust He was
apponted the Semor Independent
Non-Executive Director of Network
Rail in January 2006

David Bailley OBE

Non-Executive Director (1 2, 4, 5)*
David Bailey, 67, joined the Board
In August 2002 Dawid has a
procurement and logistics
management background He was
formerty Commercial Director for
London Transport, having
previously held vanous director-
level roles within London
Underground Dawid 1s Chairman
of Atlas-GOSS Limited and two
chanties, Home-Start North East
Hampshire and Rushmoor
Children ang Young People’s
Partnership.

Rob den Besten

Non-Executive Director (1, 2)*

Rob den Besten, 66, joined the
Board In 2003 having previously
been President and Chief
Executive Officer of Nethertands
Raitways, President and CEO of
Amsterdam Airpart Schiphol,
Permanent Secretary of the
Ministry of Transport and Public
Works and Managing Director of
the Rotterdam Municipat Transport
Corporation Rob 1s on the
supervisory boards of a number of
Dutch companies and 1s Chairman
of the Board of Trustees of the
Netherlands Mantime Museum in
Amsterdam Rob will be retinng
from the Board on 30 June 2007

* Numbers against Directors’
names indicate the committees
of the Board on which each of
them serves as follows

1 Audit Committee

2 Remuneration Committee

3 Executive Commitiee

4 Norminations Commitiee

5 Safety, Health and Environment
Committee

6 Treasury Commitiee
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Directors’ remuneration report

The following report has been prepared in accordance with the Directors’
Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 (the Regulations) and the Financial
Reporting Council's Combined Code 1ssued in June 2006

The Remuneration Committee
Given the importance of remuneration
and incentivisation to the business the
Remuneration Commitiee comprises all
of the Company's Non-Executive
Directors including the Chairman of
Network Rall The Committee members
are

Jim Corneil — Chairman of the Committee
David Bailey

Rob den Besten*

lan Buchan

Yvonne Constance

Michael Firth

Chnstopher Green

Charles Hoppe™*

lan McAlhster

* Retires on 30 June 2007
**Retires on 18 July 2007

The Group Company Secretary 1s the
secretary to the Committee

The Committee is reguired under its
terms of reference to meet at least once
a year and dunng the year 2006/07 1t met
five times

The Commuttee 1s responsible for
determining all matters concerning the
remuneration and incentivisation of the
Executive Directors of the Company This
includes making decisions in respect of
the framework of the Executive Directors’
remuneration and its cost as well as
determiming, on behalf of the Board,
specific remuneration packages for each
of the Executive Directors It decides the
remuneration package for the Chairman
without the Chairman being present It
also decides upon the form and content
of the Executive Directors’ Management
Incentive Plan (MIP) for each financial
year (within the terms of the Incentive
Policy) Additionally the Committee
determines the framewaork of certain
senior executive employees’
remuneration as well as the form and
content of their MIP

The full terms of reference of the
Committee are avallable en request and
can be found on the Network Rail
website www networkrail co uk
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Durnng the year the Committee’s activities

included

« finahsing the MIP 2006/07,

« determining the iIncentive awards to
be paid pursuant to the MIP 2005/06,

» prepanng the MIP 2007/08, and

« reviewing the benchmarking of basic
salanes

The Committee commissioned New
Brndge Street Consultants LLP to provide
independent expert advice on the
management ncentive schemes and
remuneration generally New Bridge
Street does not provide other services

to Network Ratl

Dunng 2006/07 Watsen Wyatt Limited
advised the Company in respect of
pension related matters included in the
remuneration policies

The Chief Executive and the Human
Resources Director also aitend
Remuneration Committee meetings by
invitation and assist the Committee in its
considerations but do not participate in
discussions or decisions relating to their
own remuneration The Human
Resources Director 1s responsible for
employees within Network Rail and 1s not
a Board Director nor 1s he appointed by
the Committee

Directors’ remuneration policy
Network Rail has a network licence
condition reguirement to have a MIP

for its Executive Directors and senior
executives and for that plan to be
cascaded throughout the Company

Under this condition Network Rail 1s

required, when formulating its MIP, to

have particular regard to

- securing the operation and
maintenance, renewal and
repfacement, iImprovement,
enhancement and development of
the network especially operational
performance, asset serviceability and
condition, efficiency, economy and
safety,

« infrngement by Network Rail of any
access contracts and safety factors,

- achievement of the licence
requirement of dealing with dependent
persons with due efficiency and




economy and 1n a timely manner and
compliance wrth Network Rail's Code
of Practice for dealings with
dependent persons, and

- the extent to which Network Raitis
subject to orders and to statements
by the Office of Rall Regulation (ORR}
on non-compilance with the licence

The ORR may also specify other
objectives in connection with the MIP

Taking into account these regulatory
requirements the Commitiee has
formulated Network Rail's remuneration
strategy to attract and retain competent
individuals and to create the potential
to reward outstanding performance at
a competitive market rate based on
individual contnibution and the overall
success of Network Rail in meeting

the objectives of the Business Plan

These principles are reflected in the
terms of the Management Incentive
Policy which can be modified only wath
the consent of the ORR Under this
policy the objectives and pnnciples are
to

» provide strong incentives to deliver the
actions and objectives specified m the
Business Plan,

identify specific accountability for the
achievement of the actions and

objectives laid out in the Business Plan,

» enable Network Rail to recruit, retain
and motivate individuals with the nght
skills, knowledge, experence and
competencies,

« draw on best practice for listed

companies in the UK where

appropriate given the unique mission
and structure of Network Rall,
recognise that Network Rail 1s
accountable for the public interest
as a monopoly owner and operator
of an asset of considerable public
importance,

recognise that Network Rail Limited

Is a company imited by guarantee

founded on a 'not-for-dvidend’

principle, and

« reflect the fact that the Company 1s
unable to offer the traditional benefiis
of UK listed companies including stock
options and other profit-share
mechanisms

These are structured within a total
remuneration approach, defined as the
sum of base salary, incentives and
benefits The use of vanable pay through

the avallability of incentives to form a
significant part of total remuneration 1s
intended to ensure that each individual’s
reward 15 clearly linked to the successful
delivery of Company objectives

Account is taken of information from
internal ang independent sources on the
remuneration for comparable positions in
relevant regulated and unregulated
companies The strategy for Executive
Directors’ pay 1s for base salaries broadly
to reflect the relevant market median, for
benefits such as car allowances and
medical insurance to reflect market
praciice, for pensions to reflect the rail
industry practice and for total direct
compensation (| e base salary and
incentives) to be troadly competitive In
the appropriate marketplace, provided
always that perfformance justifies the
amount This sirategy 1s consistent with
the Company's belief that performance
should determine a sizeable proportion
of the total remuneration package for
Executive Directors

Through the following means the
Company sought transparency in respect
of the principles upon which
remuneration of the Directors of the
Company has been set

« publication in 2006 of a statement
detailing the contents of the Executive
Directors’ MIP 2006/07 (pursuant to
the terms of Network Rail ‘s network
licence),

sharing of proposals for the MIP
2007/08 with members of Network Rail
Limited at is Half Year Resulis meeting
In November 2006 and inwitation to
members to comment on these both at
that meeting or subsequently, and
publication in May 2007 of a statement
detailing the conients of the Executive
Directors’ MIP 2007/08 (pursuant to the
terms of Network Rail's network
licence)

.

Executive Directors’ reward
package

The current package for Executive
Directors under ther service agreements
compnses the following elements

Base salary

This 15 a fixed cash sum payable over
13 penods duning the financial year

The Committee reviews salares annually
as part of the total reward package
recognising market levels and personal
contribution The aim 15 to ensure that
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salanes are compettively set at broadly
median levels in relation to similar roles
In appropriate regulated companies and
companies within the FTSE

Current salanes for the Executive
Directors, following the most recent salary
review effective from 1 July 2006 are

Annual base salary
as at 31 March 2007

Exacutive Dirsctors £
John Armitt 522,000
lain Coucher 466,000
Peter Henderson 347,500
Ron Henderson 347,500

Incentive arrangements

The purpose of the MIP Is to place
additional emphasis on the delivery of
the objeciives of the Business Plan

MIP 2006/07 — annual incentive
As detailed in last year's Annual Report,
the annual bonus for 2006/07 was to be
calculated measurning actual Company
performance against the three equally-
weighted targets set in the MIP 2006/07
These were Reliabilty Index, Asset
Stewardship Incentive Index (ASII) and
Financsal Efficiency Index (FEI) For each
measure a target level and maximum
level of achievement was set, with the
maximum level representing at least the
achievement of the 2007/08 Business
Plan a year early Achievement between
the target level and maximum was
calculated on a ‘straight line’ basis

For the year 2006/07, only the ASII
achieved at least target level

The following level of bonuses thus
became payable under the terms of
the MIP 2006/07

+ in respect of Reliability Index, the
target figure was 1 319 with a
maximum target of 1 369 The actual
resuli was 1 218, producing no
payment for this element,

in respect of ASIl the target was 078
with a maximum target of 075 The
actual result was 0 72, producing a
payment of 20 per cent of salary for
this element, and

in respect of FE| the target tevel of
achievement was 1,877 with a
maximum target of 1,770 As a result
of the financial mpact of the Cumbrnan
incident, the actual result was 1,904
Consequently no payment for this
element has been made

The resutiant total potential award was
20 per cent of basic salary In accordance
with the terms of the MIP, the Committee
then considered whether to use its
discretion by reducing the overall bonus
award for the Executive Directors having
regard to Network Rail's safety
perfermance, the extent to which the key
objectives of the Business Plan over the
performance penod have been achieved
and the requirements of Network Rail’'s
network licence

A further discretionary reduction to the
potential award has been made This
decision by the Remuneration Committee
took into account the overall performance
of the Company during the year The
Committee was also mindful that the
fallure to meet the FEI target was due

to the impacti of the Cumbrian incident

In addition 1t took into account the many
areas of performance, including safety,
where there has continued to be
significant improvement in the last year

In order to underline the iImportance of
the Company's commitment to continuing
focus on operational exceilence, however,
the Committee decided to exercise its
rnght to reduce the award by a further

15 per cent

Details of the resulting bonus payments
awarded to each Directer are detaled
on page 28

MIP 2007/08 — annual incentive
Participants under the MIP 2007/08 will
be eligible to receive bonuses based
again on demanding business
performance measures and targets

The MIP 2007/08 uses key performance
indicators {KPIs) based upon those
contained In the Business Plan 2007
but in certain respects more stretching

The business and indwvidual performance
measures relate directly to the objectives
set out by the ORR in paragraph 3 of
Condition 28 of the network licence of
Network Rail Infrastructure Limited
{including the achievement of the purpose
of Condition 7 (stewardship) and Condition
25 {code of practice on dealing with
dependent persons}), compliance with
other heence condiions and with
conditions of access agreements

Business performance measures

The amount payable 1o Executive
Directors will be calculated by reference
to performance against the same output
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measures to those used Iin the
2006/07 MIP

Reliability {weight one-third) - this

1$ the Index established to measure
improvements in train performance,
compnising of separate elements for
passenger reliability and freight refiability
welighted according to their respective
traffic volumes It compnises both Train
Delay Minutes and PPM {weighted two
thirds/one-third) For Train Delay Minutes
this i1s expressed as an Index per

100 train kilometres, to ensure that the
impact of the volume of trains 1s correctly
reflected

Financial Effictency Index (weight one-
third) — this 1s a measure of the efficiency
of operating, maintenance and renewal
expenditure, normalised to take account
of changes in the volume of work
required The coverage of the FEI will
be extended for 2007/08 to include
switches and crossings renewals and
major resignalling schemes This will
increase the coverage of the FEI from
60 per cent to 68 per cent of total
operating, maintenance and renewals
expenditure

Asset Stewardship Incentive Index
(weight one-third) — this 1$ an index
proposed by the ORR in its December
2003 Access Charges Review The
components of this index and weightings
are track geometry index (20 per cent),
number of broken rails (15 per cent),
Level 2 exceedences (15 per cent), total
number of signalling failures {15 per
cent}, wrong side signalling faitures —
hazard rating 20 or above (15 per cent),
structure and earthworks train speed
restnictions (10 per cent), and traction
power supply fallures AC and DC

{10 per cent)

Each of the above performance
measures stands alone and 1s calculated
independently The total potentiat
incentive award payable is then the

sum of the outcomes of each measure

The structure of the MIP scheme for
2007/08 will be changed o incorporate
the mtroduction of a taper pnnciple This
change will allow significant performance
to be recognised aganst a background
of continued year on year stretch
performance charges The specific
iargets and taper trigger points are
decided by the Remuneration




Committee, taking into account
Regulatory Targets

Payments under each of the three
measures can only be made If
performance meels or exceeds the
trigger performance as determined

by the Remuneration Committee In
accordance with the taper pnnciple if
target levels are achieved payments are
calculated for above-target performance
on a ‘straight ine' basis up to 'maximum'’
target level, the maximum mcentive
could be earned by achieving a level of
performance at least equal to delivenng
one year early the 2008/09 performance
on each measure as contained in the
Business Plan 2007

The Commitiee may exercise 1ts
discretion and reduce the amounts
payable If, over the year, the overall
business performance of Network Rall,
including the level of safety performance
and net debt, 1s deemed unsatisfactory

As aresult of the annual remuneration
benchmarking process, which 1s
undertaken by external independent
consultants, the potential annual
incentive entilement if all three measures
achieve target level will be increased to
50 per cent The maximum possible
entitlement will also be increased to
100 per cent of salary, achievable only
if all three measures hit maximum
performance, by achieving a level of
performance equal to or betier than the
2008/09 performance descnibed in the
2007 Business Plan

Personal performance
measures

There are no individual performance
measures set for the Executive Directors
The Committee continues to believe that
collective accountability of the Directors

Potential L-TIP awards (audited)

necessilates a focus on collective
performance incentives without individual
performance measures Other senior
executives do have individual
performance measuras in addition to

the business performance measures

Long-term incentive (L-TIP)
Under the terms of the Management
Incentive Policy there 1s a requirement
to have a fong-term incentive element
within the MIP

As Network Raill Limited, being the
ultimate parent of the Company, 1s &
company himited by guarantee 1t 1s not
possible to use tradiional long-term
incentives due to the absence of shares
as the reward method The L-TIP s
based, therefore, on a deferred
addiional cash award in which awards
are made after each three-year penod
triggered by relevant long-term
improvement in business performance
targets The Remuneration Commitiee
has designed this to Incentivise the
organisation to work iogether as a team
&nd with external parties throughout the
industry over the long term to achieve the
key business objectives of the Company

At the 2004 Annual General Meeting of
Network Rail Limited its members
approved the proposal by the Committee
for a long-term incentive based on a
deferred cash payment that reflect the
Business Plan and the funding
determined by the ORR's Access
Charges Review 2003 The maxrmum
amounis which could be earned under
each three-year long-term incentive cycle
are a cash sum equivalent to that earned
under the previous year's annual
Incentive

The second performance penod for the
long-term incentive ended on 31 March

Performance parlod

1 April 2004 1o 1 April 2005 to 1 April 2006 to

31 March 2007 31 March 2008 31 March 2009
Director £ £ £
John Armitt 112,320 269,757 240,408
lain Coucher 99,840 240 834 214,650
Peter Henderson 74,880 179,652 160,153
Ron Henderson 74,880 179,652 160,153
Total 361,920 869,895 775,364

These maximum sums will only be paid if the performance measures cuthned on this page and page 26 are

metn full

2007 and payments under that L-TiP
have been calcutated, based on the
two targets for the scheme

L-TIP for three-year penod 1 Apnl 2004
to 31 March 2007

Public Performance Measure

Minimum Target Actual

856% 88 1%

Maximum Target

86 6%

ORR cost reduction targets

Maximum Target

£2,563m

Minimum Target Actual

£2,660m

£2,051m

Consequently paymenis were made In
full to participants in this long-term plan,
based on an amount equivalent to the
annual incentive earned in 2004/05

(as described in previous years'
remuneration reports}

Amounts paid to the four Executive
Directors are the same as those
published in the 2004/05 Annual
Report as the maximum payable

L-TIP for three years to 31 March 2007

Name Amount earned
John Armiit £112,320
lain Coucher £99,840
Peter Henderson £74,880
Ron Henderson £74,880

The maximum potential value of the
long-term incentives recevable by each
Executive Director at the end of the
respective performance penods of the
other three-year periods I1s as shown 1In
lhe table below

Perfermance measures
The two performance measures are

Public performance up to 31 March
2006 the Public Performance Measure
was the most appropriate measure of
network performance for inclusion in this
long-term incentive, reflecting delfays
attributable both to Network Rail &nd the
lrain operating companies This measure
1S the percentage of passenger trains
arriving on time over each twelve-month
penod as published 1n 'National Rail
Trends' ‘On time’ 1s defined as running
as planned and arnving less than five
minutes late at fina! destination or less
than ten minutes late for inter-city
operaiors
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With effect from 1 Apnl 2006, it was
decided, following consultabon with the
passenger and freight train operators, to
introduce a modified target as the base
of the measure for public performance
This new measure 18 the ‘Public
Performance Target', which also includes
delays to freight trains, measured on a
similar basis to passenger delays
Passenger and freight delays are
therefore both included in this measure,
weighted according to the number of
train kilometres for each category of
traffic The target level of achieverment
for full payment 10 be made under this
measure I1s a Public Performance Target
(PPT) at the level included n the relevant
Business Plan

For the period from 1 April 2007 to

31 March 2010, the PPT target has yet to
be confirmed, at the time of publication
of this report, as this 1s subject 1o
discussions with the ORR regarding
Control Penod 4

Cost reduction this measure reflects the
cumulative cost reductions made in the
three-year period For full payment under
the long-term incentive the target 15
achievement of a level related to the
levels contained in the Business Plan
2006 No award under the long-term
incentive will be payable unless at least
80 per cent of the cumulative savings set
by the ORR are achieved

If these targets are achieved in fulf,
significant improvement to the rall
network will have been delivered The two
measures are free standing and equally
weighted The Committee continues to
believe that these two measures provide
an appropnately challenging framework
for the long-term incentive

L-TIP for three years from 1 Apnl 2007
The maximum amounts payable under
this element of the MIP are equivalent io
the amount under the annual mcentive for
the year before the beginning of the long
term plan The maximum possible
amount which could be earned each
year as an L-TIP payment :s capped at
100 per cent of the relevant participant’s
gross basic salary at the time of award

The key change fo the L-TIP 2007/08
from the previous L-TIP 1s that the
provisional and conditional award for the
three year period running from 2007/08
to 2009/10 1s to be calculated on the
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basis of the average of the awards
made in each year of the three year
performance period

Members will be asked lo approve the
L-TIP at the Annual General Meeting
of Network Raul Limited in July 2007

Regulatory MIP statement

As required under the network licence
of Network Rail, a statement will be
publshed in May 2007 detailing the
contents of the Executive Directors’
MIP 2007/08

Pensions

Executive Directors are entitled to
pensions based on salary and length
of service with a maximum pension of
two-thirds of final base salary Detalls
are set out on page 29

Directors’ service terms
Executive Directors

The Executive Directors of the Company
are also the Executive Directors of
Network Rall Lirmited but their contractual
service agreements are with this
Company No other contractual
provisions or remuneration arrangements
exist in relation to their directorships of
the Company or any other company
within the Network Rail Group

At the tme of drawing up the service
agreements the Committee took into
consideration the UK Listing Authonty's
corporate governance code and the
recommendations contained within the
Jjoint statement of the Association of
Bntish Insurers and the National
Association of Pension Funds published
n December 2002 on best practice on
executive contracts and severance
These were applied as far as practicable
and appropriate having regard to the
nature of the business and the corporaie
structure of the Company and then
current practice With the forthcoming
retrement of John Armitt in July 2007
and lain Coucher's subsegquent
appointment to the role of Chief
Executive at that time, the opportunity
has been taken to review lain Coucher'’s
service agreement against current best
practice and again so far as practicable
and appropnate ths has been adopted

All the Executive Directors' service
agreements provide for notice penods
of no greater than one year, to reflect
current corparate governance best




practice Executive Directors are
regquired to give not less than six months’
notice If they wish to leave

The Chief Executive's service agreement
(and the letter of appoaintment of the
Chairman) also contains provistons for
terminabion of his appointment without
compensation upon the occurrence of
certain significant financial failures of the
Group unless a majonty of the Board of
the Company and the DfT (in its role as
provider of credit faciities) decide that
these appointments should not be
terminated

Taking the pnnciples contained within
current corporate governance best
practice relating o compensation in the
event of early termination of a director's
service agreement, each such
agreement contains an express provision
requinng the departing director to
exercise their duty to mitigate their loss
Network Rail will have regard to that duty
and contractual requirement on a case
by case basis when assessing the

Non-Executive Directors
Non-Executive Directors are appointed
by the Board on the recommendation

of the Nominations Committee Their
appointment s for an initial term of three
years, subject to election by the
members of Network Rail Limited at the
first AGM following their appointment
They do not have service agreements
Instead the terms of their engagement
are set out In a letter of appointment and
their appointments may be terminated at
any time on six months’ notice without
compensation Further, as menticned
above, the letter of appointment of the
Charrman also contains provisions for
termination of his appointment without
compensation upon the occurrence of
certan significant financial fallures of the
Group unless a majonty of the Board of
the Company and the DT (in its role as
provider of credit faciliies) decide that
these appointments should not be
terminated

Non Executlve Directors Effective date of original contract

appropnate level of compensation which lan McAllster 3 October 2002
may be payable, including using phased  Dawd Bailley* 15 August 2002
payments Rob den Besten* 24 September 2003
Exacutive Directors Effective date of contract 12N Buchan 5 February 2006
John Armitt* 3 October 2002  Yvonne Constance 1 May 2005
lan Coucher 3 October 2002  Jim Cornetl*** 3 October 2002
Peter Henderson 3 October 2002  Michael Firth 4 December 2004
Ron Henderson 3 October 2002  Chnistopher Green 26 June 2005
* John Armitt had previously a contract of Charles Hoppe*™* 3 October 2002

appointment dated 14 December 2001

*  Dawid Baley s appointment in 2002 was as
Special Director upon conversion of his
appointment a new letter of appointment was
1ssued in 2005

**  Rob den Besten retires on 30 June 2007

*** Jim Cornell had previously an appointment letter
dated 14 December 2001

****Charles Hoppe reures on 18 July 2007

External appointments

it 1s recognised that Executive Directors
may be invited to become Non-Executive
Directors of other companies and that
such appointménts can broaden ther
knowledge and experence to the benefit
of the Company An indwdual Executive
Director will normally be required to
account to the Group for all fees receved
in respect of such directorships unless
otherwise approved by the Commiitee

None of the Executive Directors currently
holds a Non-Executive Director position
with a listed company

Non-Executive Directors’
remuneration

The Non-Executive Directors of the
Company are also the Non-Executive
Directors of Network Rail Limited but
their letters of appointment are with this
Company covering both posihions No
other contractual provisions or
remuneration arrangements exist in
relation to thewr directorships (if any) of
any other company within the Netwaork
Rall Group For the purpose of this
Directors’ Remuneration Report and the
Directors’ Remuneration Report for
Network Rail Limited, therefore, the
following provisions of this report also
appear in the Annual Report of that
company The letters of appointment are
availlable for inspection at the Company's
registered office
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Directors' remuneration report

Non-Executive Directors do not receive
any benefils from the Company other
than a fee together with their reasonable
expenses for attending meetings of the
Board and other meetings and events

Current annual fees for the
Non-Executive Directors are

Foe
Hon-Executive Director €
David Bailey 42,000
Roby den Besten 42,000
lan Buchan 42,000
Yvanne Constance 42,000
Jim Cornell* 63,000
Michael Firth** 57,000
Chnstopher Green 42,000
Charles Hoppe 42,000
lan McAllister 250,000

Includes additona! fees paid for his chairmanship
of Board committees and membership of
Membership Selection Panel

** Includes additional fees paid for his ¢charrmanship
of Board commitiees

With effect from January 2005, in view

of the additional responsibilittes and time
commitment placed upon the charmen
of Board commitiees, and In line with the
recommendations of the Higgs Report
and good corporale governance
practice, it was decided that additbonal
fees would be paid to a Non-Executive
Director who chairs any of the following
Board commitiees

Safety Health & Environment Commitiee
Audit Committee

Remuneration Committee

Treasury Commitiee

With the exception of the fee for the
Chairman (which 1s determined by the
Remuneration Committee), the fees of
the Non-Executive Directors are agreed
by the Executive Directors of the Board
These fees are designed {0 recognise
the significant responsibiliies of Nonr-
Executive Directors and to atiract
individuals with the necessary high
quality experience and abilty to make
an important contnbution to the
Company’s business

Disclosure of Directors’ remuneration for 2006/07

Supple-

LTP mentary! Banefits

and AVC  Company  (inctuding
Salarles Bonuses 'uy:;: ibutl I.;.' o 2006107
and fees Annual Company AVC payments and life cover) Total
Name Notes £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
John Armitt 517 89* 112 154 16 688
David Balley 40 40
Rob den Besten 40 40
lan Buchan 40 40
Yvonne Constance 40 40
Jum Cornell 1 60 60
lain Coucher 461 79" 100 133 36 809
Michael Firth 2 53 53
Chnistopher Green 40 40
Peter Henderson 344 59" 75 98 15 591
Ron Henderson 344 59" 75 100 578
Chares Hoppe 40 40
lan McAllister 236 236

Notes

1 lIncludes additional fees paid for s chairmanship of Board committees and membership of Membership

Selecuon Panel

2 Includes addiional fees paid for his charrmanship of Board committees
* Based upon formal annual award — on 24 May the Executive Directors announced their decision 1o defer
thig award untl the causes of the Grayngg ceralment are fully understood
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Directors’ remuneration companson 2006/07 against 2005/06

e o
Gurrent Directors Notes £000 £000
John Armitt 888" 1,027
David Bailey 40 39
Rob den Besten 40 37
lan Buchan 40 4
Yvonne Constance 40 33
Jim Cornell 60 54
lain Coucher 809" 924
Michael Firth 53 38
Christopher Green 40 29
Peter Henderson 591" 678
Ron Henderson 578" 683
Charles Hoppe 40 37
lan McAllister 236 210
Fast Directors
Ross Sayers 1 - 35
Total 3,455* 3,828
Notes

1 Died on 25 November 2005

* Based upon formal annual award — on 24 May the Executrve Directors announced therr dectsion to defer
the annual bonus award element included (in this figure untl the causes of the Grayngg derallment are

fully understood

Core pension benefits

Increase in Total Transfer value Transfervalua Total change  Value of net

Gross actrued accrued of accrued of acerued intransfer  Increase in

increzse  RPSpension RP$pension  RPSpension  RPS pension valus accral

in accrued netof  at 31 March a121 March at 31 March during ver

RPS pension Inflation 2006 2006 2007 period parlod

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

(A) (B) €} )] ) {F o]

John Armitt 2,024 1,662 9571 160,364 192667 22567 23,733
lain Coucher 1,984 1690 8113 68,505 102,443 24,212 11613
Peter Henderson 1,984 1,680 8,113 97,581 143,490 36,182 20,163
Ron Henderson 1,993 1,684 8.425 136,698 169,641 23,217 24,181

Notes

1 Pension accruals shown are the amounts which would be paid annually on retirement (or earlier leaving)

based on service to the end of the year

2 Transfer values as at 31 March 2006 (D) and 31 March 2007 (E) have been calculated in accordance with
version B 1 of guidance note SN11 issued by the acwanal professicn
3 The change in the transfer value (F) includes the effects of fluctuations in the transfer value due to factors
beyond the control of the Company and Directors such as stock market movements It 1s calculated after

deducting the Directer § contnbution

4 The value of net increase (G) reprasents the incremental value to the Director of their service duning the year,

calculated on the assumption that service terminated at the year endt It1s based on the accrued pension

increase (B) after deducting the Director's contnbutton
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Directors’ emoluments
(audited)

The fees, which are neither performance
related nor pensionable, are
benchmarked and penodically reviewed
against, and are In line with, those paid
by other comparable pnvate sector
companies taking into account time
commitment and competition for similar
positions in other companies

The total amount of Directors’
emoluments for services provided solely
to the Company during the year was
£3,455,000* (2005/06 £3,828,000)

* Based upon formal annual award — on 24 May the
Executive Directors announced thewr decision 10
defer the annual bonus award element included
in this figure until the causes of the Grayngg
derallment are fully understoed

Directors’ pensions (audited)
The table below shows the pension
entittement from the Network Rail section
of the Railways Pension Scheme (RPS),
and additional defined contnbution
arrangements of each Executive Director
of the Company during the year ended
31 March 2007, together with the i
Increases In those benefits durng the
year, calculated using the accrued
benefit basis

The increases in RPS benefits dunng the
year represent the amount of the extra
annual pension entitlement earned
resulting from additional length of
service or changes 'n salary

The increase In accrued approved
benefit during the year 1s shown in the
table to the left Values are shown before
(column A) and after {column B) the
exclusion of the effect of Inflaiton Al
benefit values shown exclude the effect
of any additional voluntary contributions
made by the Director

Executive Directors participate in the
RPS and benefit accrues at a rate of
one-sixtieth for each year of membership
They contnbute to the RPS at the same
rate as other members of the Network
Rall section In addition, some Directors
are entitled to additional pension benefits
that are provided through the Network
Rail Defined Contribution Pension
Scheme




Directors’ remuneration reporl

The following sections descrbe the
pension benefits received by Executive
Drrectors 1n 2006/07

In normal circumstances the eariiest age
at which the Executive Directors are
entitled to receive their defined benefit
pension without actuanal reduction is
age 60 However, the Direclors can retire
early on the same terms and conditions
that apply to other members of the
Network Rail section of the RPS from the
age of 50 The actuana! reduction factors
that apply under the RPS are a 2 per cent
per annum reduction between the ages
of 60 and 55 and a 3 per cent per annum
reduction for ages below 55 In keeping
with other members of the scheme, the
nght to take early retirement benefits 1s at
the option of the iIndwidual, subject only
to having left the Company’s
employment

In addition to members' benefits,
dependants’ pensions are payable after
the death of the member, in ine with

Additional pension benefits

Company contributions
to additional

those payable to all members of the RPS
These are at the rate of half the pension
the member would have recerved at age
60 on death in service or half the
member's basic penston on death in
retirement or after leaving service Basic
pension 1S pension before commutation
for cash and excluding any benefits
anstng from Additional Voluntary
Contnbutions In addttion, the RPS pays
pensions to surviving children Where
two children survive, a pension additional
to the dependant's pension 1s paid at
three-eighths of the pension the member
would have received at age 60, or three-
eighths of the member's basic pension
after leaving service or in retirement
Children's pensions are paid to the age
of 18 or a later age, at the discretion of
the Network Rall Section Pensions
Committee, (f the child 1s in full time
education or drsabled The RPS provides
guaranteed increases te all pensions in
payment and deferment in ine with the
retail prices index

Company payments
to addltional

Matching Company
additional voluntary

penslon provision pansion provision® contributions

whilst a Director In respect whilst a Director

during the year of prior yaar during the year

£ £ £

Current Directors H) U] )
John Armutt 149,537 144,526 4,844
lain Coucher 133,008 128,473 -
Peter Henderson 97,821 94,510 -
Ron Henderson - 94,510 -

Notes

1 The current Directors were Durectors for the whole year

2 Ron Henderson elected to receve an equivalent additional allowance in 2006/07 1n lieu of additional
pension contnbutions  This payment 15 iIncluded in the benefit figure reported on page 28

3 The contnbutions in respect of previous years are not included in column (H)

4 None of the Non-Executve Directors 1s & member of the Network Rail section of the RPS and Non-Executive

Dicectors have no ather pension entillements
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Provided through Funded Unapproved Retrement Benefit Schemes in prior year




Additional pension benefits

As described above, some Directors are
entitled to additional pension benefits m
which case the Director could choose the
extent to which the gross payment was
made to the pension arrangement, or
taken as cash Future contnbutions are at
a pre-determined level, and the amount
has been nottfied to each Director The
contnbutions made dunng the year
together, where appropriate, with
contnbutions in respect of benefits
accrued pnor to the year under review
are shown on page 30

The RPS also operates a matching
additional voluntary contribution facility,
whereby voluniary contnibutions paid by
members are matched by equivalent
payments from the Company, up to
certain hmiis These matching
arrangements were ‘frozen’ for all
members of the Network Rall section
of the RPS at the levels applicable on

6 November 2003, and this imit was
applied to Directors as to other
members Matching payments made in
2006/07 are also shown on page 30

During 2005, the Company revtewed all
its current pension arrangements as a
consequence of the Government's Tax
Simplification changes (‘A Day’) that took
effect from 6 April 2006

The Company modified its pension
arrangements where appropriaie from
6 Apnl 2006 following the wide ranging
revision of tax laws applying to pension
schemes introduced by the Finance Act
2004 As indicated In last year's report,
the Company’s policy on this 1ssue was
that the changes should have no
incremental cost impact to the Company
A number of changes were made at
that time to the Company pension
arrangements, which apply to all
employees, including Execubive
Directors The key changes are as
follows
+ although the Government Earnings
Cap no longer exists, the Network Rail
Section of the RPS will continue to hmit
pensionable salares to the levef of the
previous Earnings Cap {(increased
according to the same annual increase
formula as was previously applied),

» from 86 Aprl 2006 members are
permitted to pay more than 15 per cent
Into pensions, though the excess
above the previous mit te member’s
contributions of 15 per cent of salary
can only be contributed into the
Network Rail Defined Contribution
Scheme or to a personal pension {not
into the RPS BRASS arrangements),

» from 6 April 20910 a minimum early
retirement age of 55 has been
introduced for new RPS members after
5 Apnl 20086,

+ members over age 55 are able to draw
their pension whilst remaining in
employment wath company consent -
thaugh such early retirement would be
on cost neutral early retirement factors
rather than the beneficiat ones
applying under the RPS, and

» members are able to take up to 25 per
cent of their pension as a cash sum

Also in relation to the Executive Directors,
contnibutions made by the Company Into
Funded Unapproved Retirement Benefils
Schemes (FURBS) ceased irom & Apnl
2006 Instead an equivalent amount will
be paid on the Director's behalf into the
Network Rail Defined Contnbution
Scheme (NRDCS), alternatively they may
elect to receive a cash payment at no
greater cost to the Company Life
Assurance for directors whose
pensionable salary Is restricted by the
notional Earnings Cap mentioned above
will be provided through the NRDCS

Performance graph

As the Company has no listed shares
total sharehotder return cannot be
ilustrated

Directors’ interests

As the Company has no listed shares
Directors have no interests In shares
of the Company

On behalf of the Remuneration
Commitiee

4

Jim Cornell
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
24 May 2007
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Corporate governance report

Corporate governance
principles

The Board considers that good corporate
governance Is central to achieving the
Company’s objectives and to the
principle of safeguarding stakeholders’
interests n the rall infrastructure The
Company i1s committed to high standards
of business behaviour and has an
established governance framework
which comprises an organisational
structure, internal control systems and
business conduct policies These form
the framework for effective decision-
making and delivery of the quality rail
Infrastructure this country needs

It1s also a condition of Network Rail's
network licence that, from 3 October
2002, 1t comphes with the governance
principles contained in the code annexed
to the UK Listing Authority's listing rules
(as amended with effect on 1 June 2006)
(the Code) The Code includes a
requirement for comparies to make
statements on corporate governance

In their annual reports

Having reviewed the requirements of the
Code, the Directors consider that
Network Rail has complied throughout
the financial year ended 31 March 2007
wiih the provisions set out In Section 1

of the Code This Corporate Governance
Report, coupled with the Directors’
Remuneration Report, explains how the
Company has applied the governance
principles set out in the Code Details

of the Company's internal controls are
set out on pages 38 to 39

Board of Directors

The Board 1s responsible for the overall
management of the Group and in
particular for governing the strategic
direction of the business, supervising its
operaitonal management and providing
leadership within a governance
framework which it oversees This
responsibility extends to taking overall
responsibility for financial performance,
internal controls and nsk management
of the Company

The information on pages 20 and 21
shows that at the date of this report

the Company I1s led and controlled by

a board currently compnsing four
Executive and nine Non-Executive
Directors Following the forthcoming
retirement of the current Chief Executive,
John Armitt, and appointment of lain
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Coucher (currently Deputy Chief
Executive) as his successor with effect
on 1 August 2007, there will be three
Executive Directors The number of
Non-Executive Directors will also reduce
to seven with the retirement of Rob

den Besten on 30 June 2007 and
Charles Hoppe following the AGM on

18 July 2007 Notwithstanding these
changes, collectively, the Board believes
i continues to possess wide expenence
both within the rat industry and generally
as well as the necessary range of
gualities, skilis and expenence to lead
the Company effectively It also believes
the size of Board to be appropnate in
view of the nature of the Group's
business and the 1ssues facing it

Directors are appointed by the Board
and are also the Directors of Network
Rall Limited Under the provisions of the
Articles of Association of the Company
the Directors are not subject to retirement
by rotation due to it being a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Netwark Rail
Limited Under the provisions of the
Articles of Association of Network Rail
Limited, however, all Directors {other than
the Special Director — see below) must
retire by rotabion, and may stand
(together with any new Director
appointed since the |last general
meeting) for re-election by the Members
of the Company at least once every three
years No new Directors have been
appointed since the AGM in 2006

The names of the Directors due to stand
for re-election at Network Raii Limited's
Anrual General Meeting (AGM} in July
2007 are set out on page 18 of the
Directors’ Report and further information
wiil be given in the documents
accompanying the Notice of the AGM

to be sent to members of Network

Rail Limited

The Board’s responsibilities

Certain matters are formally reserved

for decision by the Board and its duly

authonsed committees These include

approval of

- the Group's overall strategy and annual
operating budget,

= the intenm and year-end financal
statements of the Company,

« the Business Plan,

material changes to the network

hcence,

« key pension matters,

» appointments to the Board,

adequacy of internal control systems




« major capital investments and
expendilure, and

» review of the performance of the
Board and its committees

Matters delegated to Executive
Committee or below are also subject
to financial imits above which Board
approval 15 required

The Roles of the Chairman and
Chief Executive

The responsibilities of the non-executive
Chairman include leading the Board and
ensuring its effectiveness He sets the
agenda for the meebings of the Board
and, with the assistance of the Group
Company Secretary, arranges for the
Directors to receve timely, accurate and
clear information before Board meetings
and updates on 1ssues ansing between
meetings The Chief Executive 1s
responsible for leading and managing
the business on a day-to-day basts within
the authonties delegated by the Board
and 1s accountable to the Board for the
financial and operational performance
of the Group

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive are distinct and separate and
therr responsibiliies are clearly
established being set out in wnting and
having been agreed by the Board The
Chairman 1s responsible for the workings
and leadership of the Board

Non-Executive Directors and
their independence

The Non-Executive Directors combine
broad business and commercial
expenence (both from the rail industry
and from other industry sectors) to
enable them to challenge and contribute
constructively o the development of the
strategy of the Group They also
scrutinise the performance of
management In meeting agreed goals
and objectives and monitor the reporiing
of performance

The current Senior Independent Director
1s Jim Cornell He s avallable to
Members as an additional point of
contact to the Chairman and the Chief
Executive

The Board considers that each of the
Non-Executive Directors 1s independent
of the Company With regards to the
guidelines on the meaning of

iIndependence’ as set out in the Code,
however, It 1S appropnate to disclose that

1 Jim Cornell was, until 1996, a (non-
Board} director of Bntish Rail He
currently receves a penston from the
Network Rall section of the Rallways
Pension Scheme He is also Executive
Director of the Railway Hentage Trust
The Board considers, however, that as
a Non-Executive Director of Network
Rail, Jim Correll 1s independent as
he was not an employee or Executive
Director of Railtrack PLC Furthermore
the corporate siructures of this
Company and of Network Rail Limited,
being a not-for-dividend company,
eliminate any potential or perceived
conflicts between his being a Non-
Executive Director of the Company and
receiving & pension from the Network
Rall section of the Railway Pension
Scheme

Jim Cornell, having held various senior
roles within British Rail before retirng
on the creation of Railtrack PLC, 1s a
highly expenenced and respected
railwayman who contributes
considerable knowledge to the Group
This enables fum to challenge
constructively and effectively
operational matters within the Group
as well as participating in the full range
of responsibilities of a Non-Executive
Director

2 David Bailley was previously the
Specral Director appointed to the
Board of Network Rail Limited by the
Strategic Rail Authonty (SRA) pursuant
to its then rights under the Articles of
Association of that company Following
the changes under the Railways Act
2005 with the responsibilities of the
SRA passing principally to the
Department for Transport (DIT), the
DFT has not exercised its night o
appoint a Special Director

The Board considered that David
Bailley makes a valuable contribution
to the Company in his non-executive
director role His wide ranging
commercial experience has enabled
him to provide additional perspective
on issues and the Company wished o
retain him as it moves nto its new roles
At the AGM of Network Rail Lirnited

in 2005 his appointment as a Non-
Executive Director was approved

None of the Non-Executive Direclors are
members of more than three committees
of the Board except David Bailey, who

1s a member of the Nominations,
Remuneration, Audit and Safety, Health
and Environment Commitiees Upon the
conversion of his appointment in June
2005 to Non-Executive Director, he has
continued to be a member of these
committees due to the valuable
contribution he I1s able to make

Board meetings

The Board met ten times in 2006/07
There i1s a schedule of items to be
brought to the Board throughout the
year and a format for each meeting 1s
prepared and agreed which enables the
Directors to review corporate strategy
regularly together with the operations
and results of the business units within
the Group and to cischarge their other
duties Each meeting includes reports
on the safety, health and environmental
performance of the Group as well as on
operational and financial performance
against the Busingss Plan and targets
There are also pericdical nsk
management reviews of the key strateqic
nsks to the Group and the Board
receives regular presentations from
senor management

Upon acquisiion of the business in
2002 the demands on the Board's
management skills i the early days
focused on the need for significant
overview of iImmediate day to day
management As the Company has
developed the demands on the Board
have moved to high tevel management
of the overall strategic development of
the business for the future Following the
annual review of the workings of the
Board and its commitiees in February
2007, therefore, the Board has
concluded that the number of scheduled
meetings and the format of its meetings
will be adjusted accordingly to reflect
the maturing state of Network Rail's
business With effect from late 2007 the
Board will have eight scheduled Board
meetings each year and the format of
these meetings will enable even greater
focus on and opportunity to debate future
strategic 1ssues facing the rail industry
in addition to review of current
performance of the business
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meeting with the Non-Executive Directars

without the Executive Directors present

to discuss the performance of the

Company under the executive leadership

Further, one meeting of the Non-

Executive Directors chared by the Senior
‘ Independent Direcior 1s held without the
Chairman present

|
|
|
‘ Annually the Chairman holds at least one

A table detalling the indwidual Directors’
attendance at each of the Board and
committee meetings 1s set out on

page 37

Organisational structure

The Board has established an
organisational structure which 1s

| designed to allow for effective and

| efficient decision-making across the
business The Board has delegated
authonty to the committees descnbed
below on specifiic matters, which are set
out In their terms of reference These
authonties are reviewed regularny The
terms of reference of the Safety, Health
and Environment, Audit, Remuneration
Nominations and Treasury Commitiees
are published on the Company’s website
and coples are available on request
Minutes of all commitiee meetings are
made available to Directors

The composiilon of each commitiee is
designed to maximise the range of skills
and expenence of Board members with
the aim of not placing undue rehance

. on any ong individual Each commitiee

t - may reguest any infiormation from the
executive management necessary to

. discharge its functions and may, If it
considers necessary, seek iIndependent
advice and counsel

As mentioned above, upon the retirement
of John Armitt as Chief Executive in July
this year and the appointment of lain
‘ Coucher as his successor, the number
i of Executive Drectors will reduce to
three 1n addition a number of changes
will be made to the senior organisational
structure of the Company, including
certain reporting lines to the three
Executive Directors and the composition
of the Executive Cormmitiee

There are five standing Board commitiees
with defined terms of reference
as follows

The Safety, Health and Environment
Committee

Composttion This Commitiee compnses
four Non-Executive Directors and the
Chief Executive and 1s chaired by Jim
Corneil The Chief Executive and Deputy
Chief Executive regularly attend the
meetings together with the Directlor,
Safety & Compliance

Role The Commiitee's role 1s to morutor
the integnty of the methods of discharge
of the safety, health and environmental
responsibilities of the Company and to
satisfy itself as to the adequacy and
effectiveness of the safety, health and
environment policies and strategies
within the Company It also reviews the
priaciples, polcies and practices
adopted In complying with all statutory,
sub-statutory, standards and regulatory
requirements in respect of safety, health
and environmental matters affecting the
activities of the Group

Process The Commttee conducts

its responsibilibes through a series

of scheduled meetings with forward
agendas set each year to meet the
responsibilities on the Commitiee

The Committee chairman reports an
the Committee's activities to the Board
meeting immediately following a
Commitiee meeting Its work in fulfilling
its responsibilities includes

« monitoring of the Group's safety,
health and envircnment policies

and strategies,

considering the areas of significant
corporate and individual safety, health
and envircnment rnisk and whether
management 15 managing these
effectively,

reviewing the structure, adequacy and
effectiveness of safety, health and
environment managerial committees
within the Company including review

of any terms of reference for the same,

reviewing the scope and results of any
safety, health and environment audit on
the effectiveness of the Company's
safety, health and environment audit
policies and sirategies and such
audit's cost effectiveness and the
independence and the objectivity

of the audit body, and

considenng the major findings of
internal and exiernal investigations
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and management's response thereto
and, where necessary, with a view to
the making of recommendations to the
Board in respect of the same

In addition to thus Committee, and
reflecting the recommendations 1n the
Cullen Report, two executive committees
have been set up, dealing with strategic
and tactical safety matters Mareover, the
Board receives a report on safety, health
and environment matters at each of its
scheduled meetings

Activities in 2006/07 Dunng the vear
ended 31 March 2007, the principal
activities of the Committee included
review of the following

+ selected key operational safety nsks,

+ progress with the implementation of

action plan SAF 5 — Safety n the Line,

key findings in annuat regulatory safety
reports,

the impact of new safety related

regulations,

» the terms of reference of the Strategic

Safety Group and Tactical Safety

Group,

the status of implementation of new

ncident investigation responsibilities

for the Railway Accrdent Investigahion

Board,

the status of inquines’

recommendations,

the rail strategic safety plan for 2007,

+ the supplier and contractor
accreduation and assurance
processes,

+ the )Implementation of new safety
competencies assessment and
monitonng, and

+ the Committee’s annual performance
evaluation

The Audit Committee

Composition This Commitiee I1s
compnsed of four Non-Executive
Drrectors and 1s chaired by Michael Firth
who has a financial background and
expenence at chainng a hsted company’s
audit committee The Chief Executive,
the Group Finance Director, the Group
Financial Controller and the Head of
Internal Audit normally aitend meetings
of the Commitiee The lead partner as
well as the audit partner from the external
auditors also attend each of the Audit
Committee’s meeting and periodically
meet with the Commitiee without
executive management present The
Board continues to be satisfied that the
composttion of the Committee fulfils the




Code's requirement that at least one
member of the Committee has recent
and relevant financial experience [t also
considers that it complies with the Smith
Guidance on Audit Committees 1n all
matenal respects

Role The main responsibilities of this
Committee are to monitor the integnty

of the financial reporting and the audit
process and to monitor that an effective
management and internal control system
1s maintained The Committee has a
structured programme of activities
including receipt of regular detalled
reports on relevant aspects of
management, focused to coincide

with key events of the annual financial
reporting cycle Its work in fulfiling

its responsibilives includes

» reviewing the internal control
framework and the register of financial
and non-financial risks (so far as these
are not reviewed by other Board
committees such as the Safety, Health
and Environment Committee),
monitoring financial reporting practices
Including considering accounting
pohcies and practices and compliance
with accounting standards,

reviewing significant accounting
estimates and judgements,

reviewing intenm and annua! financial
statements before publication,
considenng and making
recommendations to the Board

in relation io the appoiniment,
re-appointment and removal of the
external auditors following its
assessment of theirr independence and
abjectivity (including the safeguards
that are in place to maintain such
independence) and their terms of
engagement and remuneration,
reviewing the internal and external
audit process including the scope of
its planned audit and subsequently

its audit findings, and

reviewing the peolicy and procedure
whereby employees can raise, in
confidence, concerns aboul possible
improprieties

Process The Committee conducts its
responsibilities through use of a series
of scheduled meetings with a defined
set of items of business for each meeting
The Committee chairman reports on

the Commiitee’s activities to the Board
meeting iImmediately following a
Committee meeting Between meetings,
the Committee chairman reviews

emerging 1ssues as appropriate with the
Group Finance Director and other sentor
managers

Activities in 2006/07 During the year
ended 31 March 2007, the pnncipal
activities of the Audit Commitiee
included consideration of the following
+ intenm and full year financial results,
» the 2006/07 mniernal audit plan and
resources required,

quarterly internal control reports

from the internal audit function,

the effectiveness of the interna! audit

function,

the effectiveness of the external audit

process,

the independence and objectivity

of the external auditors,

« the 2007 external aucit plan and
associaled audit fees,

+ the Company's internal control
framework including the risk
management process and progress
on the management of the key nsks
identified by the Company,

- the status of employee concerns
reporting/whistle-blowing,

= the Annual Report disclosure tems
relevant to the Audit Commitiee, and

» the Committee’s annual performance
evaluation

-

During 2006/07 the Committee members
also received separate briefings from the
Group Financial Controller and the
Company's Tax Manager on regulatory
accounting and tax 1ssues respectively

External Auditors Independence and
objectivity of the external auditors Is

of great importance to the Committee

A policy 1s 1in place to assist this whereby
employment of the external auditors on
work far Network Rail other than audit
services or ax consulling services 1$
prohibited without prior approval by the
Audit Committee A new lead partner

15 appointed every five years, with other
key audit pnincipals rotating every seven
years

The Committee has responsibility for
advising the Board on the appointment,
re-appontment and the remuneration of
the external auditors Deloitte & Touche
LLP {Deloitie) has been the Company's
external auditors since 2002 {and prior to
that to Ralltrack plc since 1896} Dunng
2005 the Audit Committee asked the
Group Company Secretary to carry out
an assessment of the eflectveness of

Deloitte A lengthy questionnaire was
completed by the external auditors
detailing therr procedures, training
and audtt processes as well as how
independence and cbjectivity 1s
maintained Consultation within in the
Company as to the performance of the
external auditors was also carried out
As aresult of the assessment, the
Committee recommended in 2005
that a resolutron to re-appoint Deloitte
be proposed at the 2005 AGM which
was passed

This year, after reviewing the
independence of Deloitte, the audit
engagement terms and proposed fees,
the Audit Committee has recommended
to the Board that at the AGM n July 2007
it proposes the re-appointment of
Deloitte as auditors until the conclusion
of the AGM n 2008

The Remuneration Committee

This Commitiee comprises all of the
Company's Non-Executive Directors and
1s chared by Jm Cornell |t determines
appropnate levels of Directors’ and
senior executives' remuneration including
their incentive scheme The Committee’s
report 1s contained 1In pages 22 to 31

The Nominations Committee
Composition This Committee 1s chaired
by lan McAllister as the Chairman of
the Board and compnses two further
Non-Executive Directors

Role The role of the Committee includes
« reviewing regularly the size, structure
and composition of the Board
(including use of suitable penodic
performance evaluatton processes)
and making recommendations to the
Board on any adjustments that may
be deemed necessary and feasible
{including on matters such as
succession planning),

evaluating the balance of skills,
knowledge and expenence of

the Board,

identifying and nominating candiclates
for appointment as director for
approval by the Board, and
satisfying itself that approprate
succession plans and processes are
in place for the appointments to the
Board and to senior management
positions
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Process The Commitiee conducts its
responsibilites through meetings held
as appropriate The Committee chairman
reports on the Committee's activities to
the Board meeting immedately following
a Committee meeting Between
meetings, the Commuittee chairman
discusses matters of succession and
recruitment with the other members of
the Committee on an ad hoc basis as
required

Activities In 2006/07 Dunng the financial
year 2006/07 the Nominations Commitiee
has met twice to consider performance
evaluation of the Board, its commitiees
and Directors, succession planning,
organisational structure, the appointment
of a new Chief Executive and possible
candidates for appointment as Non-
Executive Directors of the Company

This process included consideration of
the expenence and skills sought for the
role and commissioning Egon Zehnder
International to conduct various searches
for suitaple candidates

More generally for succession purposes
the Company reviews internal executive
skills regularly including through the use
of a talent pool that uses assessment
testing and other daia to identfy suitable
candidates for succession opportunities
Individuals identified with senior
management potential also attend
focused leadership development traiming
at the Company's own centre which
provides courses In collaboration with
Warwick Business School (a part of
Warwick University)

The Treasury Commuttee

Compositton This Committee comprises
three directors, with Michael Firth as
charman The Director of Funding and
other senior funding managers attend
the meetings

Role The Committee's role 1s to review
and satisfy itself as te the appropnateness
of proposed freasury transactions
including banking, cash management,
debt raising and management and
investment management

Process The Committee conducts its
responsibiities through a senes of
scheduled meetings The Committee
chairman reports on the Commitiee’s
activities to the Board meeting
immediately following a Commiitee
meeting Between meetings, the Group

Finance Director updates and discusses
with the Committee chairman matters
relating to the treasury activities

Activities in 2006/07 Dunng the year

ended 31 March 2007, the Committee

met twice and its principal activiies

included consideration or review of the

following in relatron lo the vanous funding

arrangements for the Group

» the Debt Issuance Programme,

+» the Commercial Paper Programme

migration to Network Rall Infrastructure

Finance PLC,

the interest rate hedging controls,

risk capital options,

« cash management,

treasury policy and activities,

debt matunty profile,

investor relations activity, and

+ the Committee's annual performance
evaluation

At executive level In the Company there
is the Executive Committee chared by
the Chief Executive, currently John Armitt
{with lain Coucher to succeed with effect
on 1 August 2007}, and compnsing all
the Executive Directors and a number of
senior executives The composition of the
senlor executives has been reviewed
recently and with effect from September
2007 this will be revised with the
Inclusion of a number of other semor
managers This Committee manages the
functions of the business and
implements the operational and financial
objectives within limits set by the Board
Additionally there 1s a defined structure
of other executive steenng groups and
panels with clear terms of responsibilities
focusing on specified aspects of the
operational needs of the business with
prescnbed levels of authonty

The table on page 37 1dentifies the
rumber of meetings of the Board,
the five main Board committees, the
Executive Commitiee held between
1 Apnt 2006 and 31 March 2007 and
the attendance record of individual
Directors

There may be occasions when
circumstances anse which prevent a
Director from attending a meeting in
person Itis usual practice 1n these
crrcumstances for the Director
concerned to review the papers and
convey any views to the charrman of
the meeting in advance
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Information about the Directors’
remuneration 1$ given 1n the Directors’
Remuneration Report on pages 22 to 31
of this Report and details of how the
Board reviews financial and operational
controls and nsk management generally
are shown on pages 38 to 39

Board effectiveness

Induction and development

There 1s a comprehensive programme

of induction for new Directors aimed at
ensuring that they are fully conversant
with their responsibilities as a Director
and with the business of Network Rail
This includes provision of a
comprehensive manual of key
documents and background informatton
relating to the Company and the industry,
guidance on Board procedures and
corporate governance matters Thorough
briefings on their responsibilities are
given and site visits and one-to-one
meetings with each of the Executive
Directors, key senior managers and

key stakeholders are also held

Directors are then encouraged to update
therr skills, knowledge and familianty with
the Group through their on-going
participation at Board and committee
meetings, and through regular occasions
for them to meet senior managers, other
employees and Members as well as
through site wvisits to operational
locations

Ongeing professional development 1s
provided to Directors each year Dunng
the past 12 months the Directors
recewved briefings on relevant 1Issues
including new legislative developments
refating to corporate governance
reporting requirements and best practice
and regulatory matters Additional
personal development 1s also avallable

to all Directors

Board evaluation review

The Nominations Committee 1s charged
by the Board to review annually the
performance of the Board, its principal
committees and individual Directors
This ts achieved through a formal process
whereby guidelines to areas of focus
have been drawn up with the assistance
of external consultants These guidelines
form the basis for the evaluation process
Each review focuses on matters such

as company strategy, performance,
delegation and accountability, corporate
responsibility, succession, relationships




Safety
E.:ue::‘n:: Nominations  Remuneration Audt  Executive  Treasury
Board Commitiee Committse  Committes Committee Committee  Committes
Number of meetings held 10 7 2 6 4 11 2
Rirgctors
John Armutt 10 8 - 6" 3 11 2
David Balley 10 7 2 [ 4 - _
lan Buchan 10 - - [ - - _
Yvonne Constance 10 - - [ 4 - _
Jim Cornell g 7 2 6 - - _
lain Coucher 10 6" - - - 11 _
Rob den Besten g - - 5 4 - _
Michael Firth 10 - - 6 4 - 2
Chnstopher Green 1C 7 - 6 - - _
Peter Henderson 10 - - - - 11 -
Ron Henderson 10 - - - 4* 11 2
Charles Hoppe g 5] - 5 - - _
lan McAllister 10 - 2 6 - - _

* As attendee

with stakeholders, Board and committee
compaosition, Board communication and
the contribution and effectiveness of
indwidual Directors The findings of the
review of the Board are considered and
discussed by the Board The review of
individual Directors 1s considered by the
Chairman of the Board and where
appropnate each Director recelves
perscnal feedback

The policy adopted by the Nominations
Committee 1s for external assistance also
to be provided In conducting the review
on a br-annual basis In the intenm year
the review 1s to be conducted internally
by the Group Company Secretary
Separate meetings are held with each

of the Directors

In ine with this policy, consultants, Egon
Zehnder International, were engaged in
both 2003/04 and 2005/06 to assist with
the process The 2004/05 review was
conducted internally as was the review
for 2006/07

The latest review has led the Board to
conclude that whilst it and its committees
continue to operate effectively and (as
mentioned above 1n this report) benefit
would be gained from making some
changes to the Board meetings From
acguisition of the business in 2002 the

demands on the Board’s management
skills have developed from in the early
days the need for significant overview of
immediate day-to-day management to its
current requirements for overall strategic
development of the business for the
future The Board has concluded that the
number of scheduled meetings and the
format of 1ts meetings will be adjusted
accordingly With effect from later in
2007 the Board will have eight scheduled
Board meetings each year and the
format of these meetings will enable
even greater focus on, and opportunity to
debate, future strategic issues facing the
rail industry in addition to review of
curreni performance of the business

The Nominations Committee has also
concluded that each Director 1s continuing
to contribute to the overall effectiveness
and success of the Company and that
each of the Directors who are proposed
for re-election at the AGM n July 2007
continue to demonstrate the necessary
commitment to the Company and to be
fully effective members of the Board

Company Secretary

The Group Company Secretary 1s

the secretary o the Board and ali of
the above Board commuttees and 1s
responsible for advising each of these,
through their chairman, on all

governance matters All Directors have
access to the Group Company Secretary
for advice on corporate governance,
Board procedure and compliance
matters As well as supporting the
Chairman with his responsibiity for
management of the Board and Board
matters, the Group Company Secretary
Is also responsible for facilitating the
induction and professional development
of Board members and ensunng good
flow of information withun the Board,

its Committees and between the
Non-Executive Directors and senior
management The appointment and
removal of the Group Company
Secretary I1s a matter for the Board

as a whole

Advice

There 1s a procedure whereby Directors,
wishing to do so in furtherance of thewr
duties, may take independent
professional advice at Network Rail's
expense

Relations with Members and
stakeholders

The Board of Network Rail Limited 1s
extremely committed to, and recognises
the importance of, developing and
maintaining an cngoing relationship
based on regular communication

and dialogue with its wide range

of stakeholders

Members

A vanety of forms of contact with

Members of Network Rall 1s used

to help them hold the Board to account

for the performance of the Group and

to help the Members be aware of and
understand developments within the
business Opportunities are also
arranged on a frequent basis to enable
discussion by the Members to take
place The vanous forms of
communication include

» publication of full Annuat Reports
and Accounts,

« publication of Internim and Preliminary
Results,

« Annual General Meeting and other
general meetings of Network Rail
Lirited as required,

« supply of key press releases, business
documents and other matenal,

» copies of the Company's stafi
magazine,

« meelings with Directors and senior
Network Rail staff,

- penodical local bnefings and site visits,
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= regular presentations on key iSsues,
copies of documents published by
other bodies e g ORR’s quarterly
monitor on Network Rall, key ORR
consultation documents and other
reports,

« the services of a staff member
dedicated to responding to enquines
and issues raised by Members, and
information contained on the
Company's website -

www networkrail co uk

»

Network Rail's website 1s updated
frequently with announcements, the
Business Plan, the Annual Report and
Accounts, the Management Incentive
Plan statement and other documents and
information Members of Network Rall
Limited also have their own internet site

Members have the opportunity to meet
the Board both before and after the
formal general meetings as well as to
ask questions at the AGM (including by
submission of wntten questions In
advance) Before the AGM Members
are encouraged to request areas of
the business on which they would

like presentations

In advance of each AGM, Members are
also invited to a meeting at which the
ORR, the raill industry's reguiating body,
presents the ORR's views on the current
performance of Network Rall against its
regulatory obligations With members of
the Network Raill Board in attendance,
Members are then able to question the
ORR and the Company

Also in connection with the AGM of
Network Rail Limited, the level of proxy
votes I1s disclosed {(including the details
of the votes for, against and the
abstentions for each resolution) The
chairmen of the Board committees are
availlable at the AGM to answer questions
In relation to their comrmittee’s area of
responsibiity In addiion and in ine with
best practice, the Notice of the AGM
and any related papers were sent out 1o
Members to arrive at least 20 business
days before the date of the meeting to
ensure that Members have sufficient ime
in which to consider the items of
business

The next AGM will be held on 18 July
2007

Other stakeholders

The Company also recognises the
importance of good relationships with

its wider stakeholder base especially its
customers — the passenger and {reight
train operators, Its suppliers, funders and
its own employees Emphasts 1s placed,
therefore, on developing existing
relationships as well as expanding the
breadth of relationships This includes
the Chief Executive, the Deputy Chief
Executive and the other Executive
Birectors having regular meetings with
representatives of the ORR (as both
economic and safety regulator),
passenger and freight train operators
and other rail stakeholders Independent
relatronship surveys are conducted
regularly with each of the Company’s
customers (the train operators),
passengers, supplers and its empioyees
(using an employee engagement survey
— see page 18 of the Directors’ Report
for more detall)

Corporate Responsibility
Corporate responsibility 1s also an
impertant aspect of the role of Network
Rail which the Company takes senously
A report on its corporate responsibility
prionties and activities dunng the year
will again be pubhshed in 2007 There
15 also a Corporate Responsibility
Committee chaired by the Deputy
Chief Executive which has responsibility
for co-ordinating the strategy for the
Company's achievement of its
responsibiittes in this area

Internal controt

The Board s responstble for the
Company's system of internal control
and for reviewing ds effectiveness Such
a system 1s designed to manage, rather
than eliminate, the nsk of failure to
achieve business objectives It can

only provide reasonable, {rather than
absolute), assurance against material
rmisstatement or loss

The Board considers the management
of nsk and internal control to be
fundamental to achievement of the
Company's objectives and has formally
established a policy, strategy and
process for identification, evaluation and
on-going review of the significant risks
faced by the Company which accords
with the Turnbull Guidance Dunng the
year the Execuiive Directors have
formally reviewed the key nsks faced
by the Company The Directors keep
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the effectiveness of the system of
internal control under review and have
done so throughout the year

The risk management process I1s now

well established and forms an integral

part of the Network Rail planning and

review activity It incorporates the

following

» the identification of nsks to the
achievernent of business objectives
by all business units and major projects
together with the likelihood/impact
analysis and the development of
mitigation actions to manage nsks
at the desired levels,

+ the capture and recording of nisks, nsk

sconng and action plans in a company

wide nsk management system,

the regular reporting and review of

busingss unit and major project nsks

to the Executive Directors at monthly

business reviews, and

the development of causal nsk maps

to provide an overview of strategic risk

interaction across functions and to

support regular review of the nisk

profile by the Audit Committee and

the Board

The Board, however, recognises that
embedding risk management across the
Company 1s an ongoing process and 1s
committed to a programme of continual
improvement which, during the last year,
has included

+ the development of a Company
Standard for nsk management to
provide for consistency of approach
across business uniis,

+ the introduction of a self certification
process which requires function heads
to confirm that the nsk management
processes are beimng complied with
and that their nsk data s accurate and
complete, and

+ peer leadership groups to review and
challenge nsk data and to increase
awareness of best practice

There are established internal control

procedures for managing the nsks faced

by the Company of which the key

elements are

= regular structured reviews of all
business units and major projects
by the Executive Directors assessing
progress against objectives with action
being taken as required,

« a framework of delegated authonty
and accountability based on a
templated organisation structure,




+ Board approval of business strategies
and objectives, together with plans,
annual budgets and targets,

the monthiy reporting of financial
results, safety and other operational
key performance indicators,
procedures for planning, approving
and managing all investment
expenditure including the use of the
Guide to Rallway Investment Projects
(GRIP) specifying the requirement and
timings for approvals sought by the
Investment Panel and where above

its delegated financial level, by the
Executive Committee and the Board,
centralised treasury cperations
operating within defined limits and
overseen by the Treasury Commuttee,
monthly accounting reviews to
scrutinise financial data and increase
confidence in the integrity of the
accounts,

continuous monitonng by the Legal
Services function within the Company,
of claims and Iitigation 1ssues affecting
the Company,

governance of all business change
initiatives through the Strategic
Leadership Group, and

commitment to continuous
improvement in levels of competence
via leadership, competency and
training pregrammes

The Company has an independent
Internal Audit team that 1s affiliated to
the Institute of Internal Auditors Its
primary role Is to provide objective and
Independent assurance regarding the
adequacy of the Company's internal
control framework, compliance with
palictes, laws and regulations Internal
Audit s also responsible for reviewing
the effective operation of the company
wide nsk management system as well
as improving processes, providing
advice and prolferating best practice

The work of internal audit (s focused

on the areas of prionty as dentified by
nsk and matenalty analysis and s in
accordance with an annual audit plan
which 1s approved by the Audit
Committee The Audit Committee
receives regular reports on audit findings
from the Head of Internal Audit, who has
direct access to the Chairman of the
Audit Committee Recommendations to
improve the internal control framework
are reported to the Audit Committee
through this process

Internal Audit work closely with the
External Auditors and other assurance
providers to ensure co-ordination of
audit plans and opurvisation of audit
resources The Head of Internal Audit
and the External Audit Partner meet on
a reqular basis

The Company also has an established
process by which staff may, in
confidence, raise concerns about
possible impropneties Matter ansing
from the investigation of fraud are
reported to the Audit Comm:ttee by
the Head of internal Audit

Dunng the course of its review of the
system of internal control, the Board has
not identified nor been advised of any
fallings or weaknesses which it has
determined to be significant Fallowing
the Cumbrnan incident in February 2007,
ivestigations have been instigated and
are ongoing Should any matters anse
from these relating to relevant internal
control issues these will be reviewed fully
and appropriate action implemented

Notwithstanding the above, the Board
recognises that there s shll an ongoing
need to bulld on the above framework
and, in particular, has instigated a
number of inibiatrves to further improve
complance with the control framework

Going concern

The Directors are satisfied that the
Company has adequate resources to
continue to operate for the foreseeable
future For this reason they continue to
adopt the going concern basis In
preparing the accounts

Statement of Directors’
responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for
preparing the Annual Report and the
financial statements The Directors are
required to prepare financial statements
for the Group in accordance with
international Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) and have also elected
to prepare financial statements for the
Company in accordance with IFRS
Company law requires the Directors 1o
prepare such financial statements in
accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards, the Companies Act
1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

International Accounting Standard 1
requires that financial statements present
fairly for each financial year the
Company's financial position, financial
performance and ¢ash flows This
requires the faithful representation of

the effects of transactions, other events
and conditions 1n accordance with the
definitions and recogmnitton critena for
assets, habilities, iIncome and expenses
set outin the International Accounting
Standards Board's ‘Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements” In virtually all
circumstances, a fair presentation will

be achieved by compliance with all
International Financial Reparting
Standards Directors are also required to
- select applicable accounting policres
and apply them properly,

present information, including
accounting policies, In a manner that
provides relevant, reliable, comparable
and understandable information,

+ provide additional disclosures when
complance with the speacific
requirements in IFRS 1s insufficient to
enable users to understand the iImpact
of particular transactions, other events
and condilions on the entity's financial
position and financial performance, and
prepare the accounts on a going
concern basis unless, having assessed
the ability of the Company to continue
as a going concern, management
either intends to quidate the entity

or to cease frading, or has no reahstic
alternative but to do so

-

The Directors are responsible for keeping
proper accounting records which
disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial pesition of the
Company and Group, for safeguarding
the assets, for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularties and for the
preparation of a Directors' Report and
the Directors' Remuneration Report
which comply with the requirements

of the Companies Act 1985

The Directors are responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the
Company website Legislation in the
United Kingdom governing the
preparation and dissemination of
financial statements differs from
legislation in other junsdictions
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We have audited the Group and
individual Company financia! statements
{the ‘financial statements") of Network
Rall Infrastructure Limited for the year
ended 31 March 2007, which compnse
the consolidated iIncome statement, the
consolidated and individual company
statements of recogmsed income

and expenses, the consolidated and
indmidual company balance sheets,

the consolidated and individual company
cash flow statements and the related
Notes 1 to 3t These financial statements
have been prepared under the
accounting policies set out therein

We have also audited the information in
the Dhrectors' remuneration report that

1S described as having been audited

This report 1s made solely 1o the
Company's members, as a body, In
accordance with section 235 of the
Companies Act 1985 Qur audit work has
been underiaken so that we might state to
the Company's members those matters
we are required to state to them in an
auditors’ report and for no other purpose
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we
do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the Company and the
Company's members as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the
opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities

of Directors and auditors

The Directors’ responsibilities for
preparing the Annual Report, the
Directors’ remuneration report and the
financial statements 1n accordance with
applicable law and International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs} as adopted
for use 1n the European Union are set out
in the statement of Directors’
responsibilities

Qur responsibility Is to audit the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’
rermuneration report to be audited in
accordance with refevant legal and
regulatory requirements and international
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)
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In depen dent aUd itO rS, re pO rt to the Members of Network Rall Infrastructure Limited

We report to you our opinion as to
whether the financial statements give

a true and fair view and whether the
financiat statements and the part of the
Directors’ remuneration report to be
audited have been properly prepared

In accordance with the Comparnies Act
1985 and, as regards the Group
financial staternents, Article 4 of the IAS
Regulation We report to you whether in
our epnion the informatton given in the
Directors’ report is consistent with the
financial statements In addition, we
report to you 1If, in our opinion, the
Company has not kept proper accountting
records, If we have not received all the
information and explanations we require
for our audit, or if iInformation specified
by law regarding Directors’ remuneration
anct other transactions 1s not disclosed

The Directors have asked us to report
to you if, in our opinion, the Company
has not complied with any of the four
Directors' remuneration disclosure
requirements specified for our review
as If the Listing Rules of the Financial
Services Authonty applied These
comprise the amount of each element
in the remuneraiion package and
infoermation on share options, details of
long term incentive schemes, and money
purchase and defined benefit schemes
We give a statement, to the extent
possible, of detalls of any non-
compliance

The Directors have asked us to review
whether the corporate governance
report on page 32 reflects the
Company’s compliance with the rune
provisions of the 2003 FRC Combined
Code specified for our review as If the
Listing Rules of the Financial Services
Authority applied, and we report if 1t does
not We are not required to consider
whether the Board's statements on
internal control cover alf risks and
controls, or form an opiruon on the
effectiveness of the Group's corporate
governance procedures or its nsk and
control procedures




We read the other information contained
In the Annual Report including the
unaudited part of the Directors’
remuneration report and we consider the
imphcations for our report If we become
aware of any apparent misstatements or
matenal Inconsistencies with the financial
statements Our responsibiliites do not
extend to any further information outsicde
the Annual Report

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing
{UK and Ireland) 1ssued by the Auditing
Practices Board An audit includes
examination, on a test basis, of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements and the part of
the Directors’ remuneration repori to be
audited It also includes an assessment
of the signtficant estimates and
Jjudgements made by the Directors in the
preparation of the financial statemnents,
and of whether the accounting policies
are appropnate to the Group's and
Company's circumstances, consistently
applied and adequately disclosed

We planned and performed our audit so
as to obtain all the information and
explanations which we considered
necessary In order to provide us with
sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements
and the part of the Directors’
remuneration report to be audiied are
free from matenal misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or other irregutanty or
error [In forming our opinion we also
evaluated the overall adequacy of

the presentatton of information in the
financial statements and the part of

the Directors’ remuneration report to

be audited

Opinion

In our opinion

« the Group financiat statements give a

true and fair view, in accordance with

IFRSs as adopted by the European

Union, of the state of the Group's

affars as at 31 March 2007 and of

its profit for the year then ended,

the individual company financial

statements give a true and fair view, in

accordance with IFRSs as adopted for

use In the European Union as applied

N accordance with the requirements of

the Companies Act 1985, of the state

of the individual company’s affarrs as

at 31 March 2007,

the financial statements and the part of

the Directors' remuneration report to be

audited have been properly prepared

In accordance with the Companies

Act 1985 and, as regards the Group

financial statements, Article 4 of the

IAS Regulation, and

+ the infermation given in the Directors’
report 1s consistent with the financral
statements

%/a,%?,/gaa_/_c—f

Deloitte & Touche LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered
Auditors

London

24 May 2007

*
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Income Statement for ihe year ended 31 March 2007

2007 2006
Group Group
Notes £m fm
Revenue 3 5,795 3,837
Operating costs 5 (3,517) (3,369)
Operating profit 2,278 468
Revaluation gains and profits on disposal of properties 102 78
Total profits from operaticns 6 2,380 546
Investment revenues 8 230 97
Finance costs 9 (1,132) (875)
Profit/(loss) before tax 1,478 (232)
Tax 10 (443) (21)
Profit/(loss) for the year atinbutable to equity shareholders 1,035 (253)
All amounts in the current and prior years relate to continuing operations
Under section 230 of the Company's Act 1985 the group has elected to take the exemption with regard to disclosing the
Company Income Statement The Company’s net profit for the year was £1,128m (2006 loss of £322m)
a n d ex pe n Se for the year ended 31 March 2007
2007 2008 2007 2006
Group Group Company Company
£m £m Em £m
Recegnised income and expense in the year
Gains on revaluation of the railway network 73 1,583 73 1,583
{Losses)/gains on cash flow hedges {183) 1 33 (88}
Exchange differences on retranslation of foreign currency
debt taken to hedging reserve 351 (178} - -
168 (177} 33 (88)
Actuanal gains on defined benefit pension schemes 122 102 122 102
Tax on items taken directly to equity (106) (457) (64) {(482)
Net income recogrised directly in equity 257 1,051 164 1,115
Transfers
Transferred to profit and loss on cash flow hedges 4 27 4 27
Tax on items transferred from equity {1} &) {1) (8)
3 19 3 19
Profit/{loss) for the year 1,035 (253) 1,129 (322}
Tota! recognised income and expense 1,295 817 1,296 812
Opening adjustments made on 1 Apnl 2005 on transition
to IAS 32 and IAS 39
Opening value of denvatives on transition to 1AS 32 and IAS 39 - {100) - (100)
Opening exchange differences on translation of foreign currency
debt on transition to 1AS 32 and IAS 39 - 2 - 2
Deferred taxation on opening adjustments on transition
to IAS 32 and IAS 39 - 34 - 34
- (64) - (64)
Total recognised income and expense for the year attributable
to equity shareholders 1,295 753 1,296 748
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Balance sheets . s o0

2007

2006

2007

2006

Group Group Company Company
Notes £m £m £m £m
Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 11 75 77 - -
Property, plant and equipment - the railway network 12 28,304 25,891 28,304 25,991
Investment property 13 948 892 948 892
Investment In subsichanes 14 - - 49 49
Investments 15 - 161 - -
Loan to immediate parent company 348 326 348 326
Dernvative financial instruments 20 41 65 39 -
Finance lease recevables 17 16 19 16 19
Total financial assets 405 571 403 345
29,732 27,531 29,704 27,277
Current assets
Inventories 16 49 44 49 44
Finance lease recevables 17 3 3 3 3
Trade and other receivables 18 626 439 631 609
Denvative financial Instruments 20 1 50 1 -
Cash and cash equivalents 18 193 31 13 31
872 567 697 687
Total assets 30,604 28,098 30,401 27,964
Current hlabiiies
Trade and other payables 23 (2,210) (2,.083) {2,043) (2,068)
Bank loans and overdrafts 19 (2,862) {4,186) {2,913) (4,185)
Dervative financral instruments 20 (105) (2) 42) {130}
Short-term provisions 24 {15) (17) (15) (17
(5,192) (6,288) {5,013) (6,400}
Net current habilibes (4,320} (5.721) {4,316) {5,713}
Non-current iabiliies
Bank loans 19 {15,715) {14,187) {15,902) (14,009}
Dervative financtal instruments 20 (199) (45) - -
Other payables 23 {1,129) (919) (1,129) (919}
Retirement benefit obligation 30 (248) (359) (248) (359)
Deferred tax habilites 21 {2,435) (1,895) (2,435) (1,895)
Long-term provisions 24 (18) (22) (18) (22}
Obligations under finance leases 22 (10} (10} (10} (10}
{19,754) (17,447) (19,742) (17,214)
Total habilities {24,946) (23,735) (24,755) (23.614)
Net assets 5,658 4,363 5,646 4,350
Equity
Share capital 25 160 160 160 160
Share premium accourt 26 85 85 85 85
Revaluation reserve 26 4,247 4,337 4,247 4,337
Other reserve 26 1,451 1,451 1,451 1,451%
Hedging reserve 26 (57} (178} {33) {61)
Retained earnings 26 (228) (1,492) (264) (1,622)
Total shareholders' funds and equity attnbutable
to equity holders of the parent company 5658 4,363 5,646 4,350

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for 1ssue on 24 May 2007

They were signed on its behalf by

John Armitt Director

Ron Henderson Director
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C aS h fl OW State m e n ts for the year ended 31 March 2007

2007 2006 2007 2006
Group Group Company Company
Note £m £m £m £m
Net cash generated from operating activities 27 2,428 655 2,460 662
Investing activities
Interest receved A 35 47 35
Purchases of property, plant and equipment — the raillway network {3,256} {3.088) (3,256) (3.088)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment -
the railway network 51 65 51 65

Capital grants received 169 95 169 95
Capital element of finance leases’ receipts 3 6 3 6
Sale of avallable-for-sale investments 161 5 - -
Net cash used in investing activities {2,801) (2,882} {2,986} (2,887)
Financing activiies
Repayments of borrowings (9,900) {6,852) {9,927} (6,852}
Repayments of obligations under finance leases - (8} - (8)
New loans raised 10,435 9,080 10,435 9,080
Net cash generated from financing activities 535 2,230 508 2,230
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 162 3 {18) 5
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 3 28 H 26
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 193 31 13 31
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NOteS tO the finanCiaI statements for the year ended 31 March 2007

1 General information
Network Rail Infrastructure Limited 1s a company incarporated in Great Britain and registered in England and Wales under
the Companies Act 1985

The Company registration number 1s 2904587
The Company's registered office Is situated at 40 Melton Street, London NW1 2EE
The Company's principal activities are detarled in the Directors’ report on pages 14 to 19

Details of the Group’s business activities, key evenis and changes dunng the year and hkely future developments are contained
in the Charman’s statement, the Chief Executive’s review and the Group Finance Director's review These financial statements
should also be read in conjunction with the Corporate Governance Report and the Directors' Remuneration Report

The Company's parent 1s Network Rail Holdco Limited, a company incorporated in Great Bntain and registered in England and
Wales The Company’s ulimate parent company 1s Network Rail Limited, a company imited by guarantee incorporated in Great
Britain and registered in England and Wales

2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Iniernational Financsal Reporting Standards (IFRS) adepted
for use in the European Union and therefore comply with Article 4 of the EU 1AS regulation

The financial siatements have been prepared on the histoncal cost basis, except for the revaluation of the rallway network to the
lower of its same state replacement cost and value in use, the revaluation of investment properties, investments and denvative
financial instruments to {air value

The principal accounting policies adopted by the directors are set out below

Adoption of forthcoming standards
At the date of authonsation of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations which have not been applied
in these financial statemenis were in Issue but have not yet come into effect

\FRS 7 Financial instruments Disclosures, and the related amendment {o IAS 1 on capital disclosures

IFRS 8 Cperating Segmenis

IFRIC 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29 Financial Reporing in Hypennflationary Econormies
IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2

IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Dervatrves

IFRIC 10 Intenim Financial Reporting and Impairment

IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 — Group and Treasury Share Transactions

IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements

The Directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will have no matenal impact on
the financial statements of the Group except for additional disclosures on capital and financial instruments when the relevant
standards come nto effect for periods commencing on or after 1 January 2007 The acditional disclosures under IFRS 7 include
stating the carrying amount of financial assets and labiiities under each of the classifications in |AS 32 ‘Financial Instruments
Recognition and Measurement’, an analysis of the age for financial assets that are either past due orimpaired, a reconciliation of
changes in carrying amounts dunng a penod where impairment 1s recorded through an allowance account as opposed to a direct
reduction to the carrying amount of the financial asset, and additional requirements on providing sensitivity analysis on market
nsks and how changes In these nsks would have impacted profii or loss and equity In the penod

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation

Revenue recognibion

Revenue 1s measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable Revenue represents amounts derived from
the management and provision of assets for the use in the operation of the railway, property rental income, and the safe of
commercial and development properties net of value added tax, and takes account of any performance penalties or bonuses
in respect of the year

Supplemenits to the access charges and bonuses receivable from, less penallies payable to, customers are included in revenue
Additional coniract amounts and bonuses payable to, less penalties receivable from, supphers and the Office of Rail Regulation
are included in operating expenditure

Revenue from construction contracts 1s recognised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy on construction contracis
on page 46

interest Income 15 accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective Interest rate applicable,
which 1s the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected Iife of the financtal asset to that
asset's net carrying amount
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Notes to the financial statements

2 Significant accounting policies continued

Grants

Grants and other contnbutions received towards the cost of property, plant and egupment are included n trade and other
payables as deferred income and released to the income statement over the estimated useful economic life of the ralway
network Revenue grants earned for the management and provision of ralway network assets are credited to the income
statement in the penod to which they relate

Construction contracts

Construction contracts are stated at cost plus estimated profits attnibutable to the stage of completion (where the outcome can
be assessed with reasonable certainty), less provision for any known or anticipated losses and progress payments recewable on
account Contract provisions in excess of amounts recoverable are included in provisions Advance and progress payments are
included under trade and other payables to the extent that they exceed the related cost When it 1s probabie that total contract
costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss 1s recognised as an expense immediately

Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the nsks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee All other leases are classtfied as operating leases

The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as recewvables at the amount of the Group's net investment in the
leases Finance lease income Is aliocated to accounting penocds so as o reflect a constant penodic rate of return on the Group's
net investment outstanding in respect of the leases

Rental iIncome from operating leases, and iniial direct costs are recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the
relevant lease

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at therr fair value o, if lower, at the present value of the
minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease The corresponding hability to the lessoris included 1n
the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of
the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the ability Finance charges are
charged to the income statement, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised

in accordance with the Group's general policy on borrowing costs (see below)

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to income on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease

Foreign currencies

Maonetary assets and liabilittes expressed in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at rates of exchange prevailing at the
balance sheet date Indmdual transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the exchange rates
prevailing on the dates payment takes place Gains and losses ansing on retranslation are, waith the exception of items that form
part of a designated cash flow hedge relationship, incleded in the income statement for the peniod and are classified as either
operating or financing depending on the nature of the monetary item giving rise to them

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attnbutable to the construction of qualifying assets which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
penod of time to get ready for their intended use are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for thewr intended use

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement in the penod in which they are incurred

Operating profit
Operating profit 1s stated before investment income, finance costs and revaluation gains and profits on disposal of properties

Retirement benefit costs
Payments to the defined contribution retirement benefit scheme are charged as an expense as they fall due

For the defined benefit scheme, the cost of providing benefits I1s determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method, with full
actuarial valuations being carned out at least every three years and updates to these valuations carned out in intervening years

The Group's share of the actuanal gains and losses are recognised in full in the period in which they occur They are recognised
outside the income statement and presented in the statement of recognised income and expense (see Note 30)

Past service cost Is recognised immediately (o the extent that the benefits are already vested, and otherwise 1s amortised on
a straight line basis over the average penod untl the benefits become vested

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation,
as adjusted for unrecognised past service cost, and as reduced by the fair value of scheme assets Any asset resulting from this
calculation 1s imited to past service cost, plus the present value of available refunds and reductions in future contnbutions to the plan

46 Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Annual Report and Accounts 2607




2 Significant accounting policies contnued

Tax

The tax expense represents the sum of the current tax payable and deferred tax The Group's current tax liability 1s calculated
using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date

Current taxes are based on the taxable results of the Group and calculated in accordance with tax rules in the United Kingdom

Deferred tax s the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on the temporary differences that anse when tax authonties
recogrise and measure assets and habilities with rules that differ from those of the consolidated accounts Deferred taxes are
calculated under the balance sheet ability method at the rate of tax expected o prevail, subject to the rate being enacted or
substantively enacted by that date, when the temporary differences reverse Deferred tax 1s not discounted

Deferred tax habiities are recogrised for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are recognised on all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it 1s probable that there will be taxable profits available against which the
temporary timing differences can be utilised

Deferred tax assets/liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences anse from the inihal recognition of goodwill, non
deductible goodwill or from initial recogrition {other than business combination) of other assets and liabiiies in a transacton that
affects neither the taxable profit or loss nor the accounting profit or loss

Deferred tax i1s charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity,
in which case the deferred tax 18 also dealt with in equity

Property, plant and equipment - the railway network

The railway network 15 valued at depreciated replacement cost This 1s calculated at the lower of its same state replacement cost
and its value In use The value In use Is based on a discounted future cash flow that assesses the value to the business of the net
Income stream of the railway netwark

The ralway network 1s deprectated on a straight-line basis over its estimated remaining weighted average useful economic life
The estimated remaining weighted average usefut economic life of the network 1s currently 25 years The remaining weighted
average useful economic lives are estimaied annually, with external verfication of the valuation and asset lives carred out, where
reguired, at least every five years

Investment property

Investment property, which 1s property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, 1s stated at its fair vaiue at the balance
sheet date Gains and losses from changes in the fair value of investment property are included in the income statement for the
penod in which they arise

Research and development

Research and general development expenditure 1s charged to the income statement as incurred Expenditure on the development
of specific projects 1s recogrised only If all of the following conditions are met

« An asset 15 created that can be identified

- It 1s probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits

« The development cost of the asset can be measured reliably

Intangible fixed assets

An intangible asset i1s only recagnised if it 1s probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group and its costs can

be measured reliably Intangible fixed assets are measured initially at purchase cost and are amortised on a straight-line basis
Licenses are amortised over the length of their contractual agreement Intangible fixed assets are tested for imparrment at each
balance sheet date by comparnng ther carrying vatue and the expected discounted cash flows expected to anse from them over
their contractual agreements If the carrying value exceeds the discounted cash flows expected to anse from the assets, the
carrying value would be impaired accordingly

Inventones

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value Cost compnses direct matenals, direct labour costs and those
overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition Cost 1s calculated using the
weighted average method

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recogrised on the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument

Trade receivables
Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropnate allowances for
estimated irrecoverable amounts, recognised in profit and loss
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Notes to the financial siatements

2 Significant accounting policies continued

Investments

Investments are recognised and derecognrised on a trade date where a purchase or sale of an investrment 1s under contract
whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe establtshed by the market concerned, and are inibially
measured at cost, including transaction costs

Investments are classified as either held for trading or available-for-sale, and are measured at subsequent reporting dates at far
value Where securities are held for trading purposes, gains and losses ansing from changes in fair value are included in the
income statement for the period For avallable-for-sale investments, gains and losses from changes In far value are recogrised
directly in equity, until the secunty 1s disposed of or I1s determined to be impaired, at which ime the cumulative gain or loss
previousty recogntsed in equity 1s included n the iIncome statement for the penod Non-current asset instruments in subsidianes
are stated at cost less provision for impairment

Financial iabihties and equity instruments
Financial labiities and equity instruments are classified accerding to the substance of the coniractual arrangements entered into
An equity instrument 1s any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its liabihties

Debt

Debt instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of discount and direct 1ssue costs Finance charges, including
premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct 1ssue costs are accounted for on an accrual basis to the income
statement using the effective interest rate method and are added to the carrying value of the debt instrument to the extent that
they are not settled in the penod in which they arise

Trade payables
Trade payables are not interest bearing and are stated at cost

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Group's activities expase 1t pnmarily to the financial nsks of changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates
The Group uses interest rate swaps and foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge these exposures

The use of financial denvatives 1s governed by the group’s pahicies approved by the Treasury Committee of the Board, which
provide written principles on the use of financial dernvatives

Changes in the fair value of denvative financial instruments that are designated and eifective as hedges of future cash flows are
recognised directly in equity and the ineffective portion 1s recognised immediately in the income statement If the cash flow hedge
of a firm commitment or forecasted transaction resulis in the recognition of an asset or a hability, then, at the time the asset or
liabihity 15 recognised, the associated gains or losses on the denvative that had been previously recognised in equity are included
in the initial measurement of the asset or hability For hedges that do not result in the recognition of an asset or a liability, amounts
deferred in equity are recognised in the iIncome statement In the same penod in which the hedged items affect net profit and foss

Changes in the fair value of denvative financial instruments that do not qualify for cash flow hedge accounting are recognised
In the income statement as they anse

Hedge accounting i1s discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or 1s sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies
for hedge accounting At that time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recogrised in equity 1s retained in
equity untl the forecasted transaction occurs |f a hedged transaction 1s no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain

or loss recognised In equity 1s transferred to the income statement in the year

Denvatives embedded in other financial insiruments or other host contracts are treated as separate denvatives when therr nsks
and charactenstics are not closely related to those of host contracts and the host contracts are not carned at fair value, with gains
or losses are reported in the income statement

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and 1t 1s probable that the Group
will be required to settle that obligation Provisions are measured at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the obligation at the balance sheet date, and are discounted to present value where the effect 1s matenal

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

() Property, plant and equipment — the railway network the estimate of the value in use of the railway network 1s based on the
Regulatory Asset Base, whichs, in effect, a discounted future cash flow calculation adjusted for the net present value of any
vanances from the Office of Rail Regulation's determination included in the Group's Business Plan Further details are set out
in Note 12

(ny Retirement benefit obligation the Group recognises and discloses its retirement benefit obligation in accordance with the
measurement and presentational requirement of |IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ The calculations include a number of judgements
and estimations in respect of the expected rate of return on assets, the discount rate, inflation assumptions, the rate of
increase In salanes and life expectancy amongst others Changes in these assumptions can have a significant effect on the
value of the retirement benefit obligation The key assumptions made are set out In Note 30
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3 Revenue

2007 2006

Group Group

£m £m

Passenger franchise revenue 2,206 1,515
Revenue grants 3,227 1,983
Freight revenue 95 g7
Property rental income 206 183
Other income 61 59
5,795 3.837

The net effect of the performance regimes on the results of the Group and Company was net income of £89m {year to 31 March

2006 net income of £110m)

4 Segmental analysis

No segmental analysis 1s provided because the Group operates one class of business, that of managing the national rail
infrastructure, and undertakes that class of business in one geographical segment, Great Britain

5 Operating costs

2007 2006
Group Group
£m £m
Employee costs (see Note 7) 1,401 1,292
Own costs capitalised (482) (409)
Other external charges {(including infrastructure maintenance costs) 1,691 1,674
Other operating Income {148) (126)
Operating costs before depreciation 2,462 2,431
Depreciation and other amounts written off nen-current assets 1,086 964
Capital grants amortised (31) (26)
Operating costs 3,517 3,369
6 Profit from operations
Profit from operations 1s stated aiter charging/(crediting)
2007 2006
Group Gmoup
£m £m
Research and development costs 1 2
Depreciation and other amounts written off property, plant & equipment 1,086 964
Amortisation of intangtble fixed assets 2 2
Profit on sale of praperties (47) (61)
Increase n the farr value of investment properties (55) (17
Cost of inventores recognised as an expense 187 166
Employee costs (see Note 7) 1,401 1,292
Amounts payable to auditors
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the Company's annual accounts 035 034
Fees payable to the Company's auditors for other services to the Group
— The audit of the Company's subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 003 003
Total audit fees 038 037
Other services pursuant to legrsiation
— Regulatory accounts audit and intenm review 012 012
— Other 001 oM
Total non-audit fees 013 013
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Notes to the financial statements

7 Employee costs
The average number of employees {Including executive directors} was

2007 2006
Group Group
Number Number
Management and operation of the raillway 33,446 31,584
2007 2006
Group Group
£m £m

Their aggregate remuneration comprnsed
Wages and salares 1,178 1,084
Social securily costs 102 93
Defined contribution pension costs {see Note 30} 11 3
Defined benefit pension costs — current service costs {see Note 30) 110 112
1,401 1,292

8 Investment revenue

Investment revenue and foreign exchange gains are presented net of effective cash flow hedges for respective interest beanng
and foreign currency borrowings Fair value gains on derivatives, presented below, include the mark-to-market change of interest

rate and currency denvatives designated as fair value hedges

2007 2006
Group Group

£m £m

Interest receivable from immediate parent company 21 19
Interest receivable on iInvestments and deposits 27 13
Interest recelvable on finance leases 2 2
Increase n fair vaiue of fair value hedged debt 85 7
Ineffective portion of cash flow hedges 35 22
Increase In fair value of non hedge accounted debt 20 -
Increase n farr value of denvatives not hedge accounted 2 34
Exchange differences on retransiation of foreign currency debt taken directly to income statement 2 -
Expected return on assets less interest on liabilities in respect of defined benefit pension scheme 17 -
230 g7

9 Finance costs

Finance costs and foreign exchange losses are presented net of effective cash flow hedges lfor respective interest bearng and
foreign currency borrowings Fair value losses on denvatives, presented below, Include the mark-to-market change of interest rate

and currency dervatives designated as fair value hedges

2007 2006
Group Group
£m £m
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts 65 18
Interest on bonds 1ssued under the Debt Issuance Programme 475 356
Interest on debt issued under Medium Term Note Programme 296 363
Interest on commercial paper 78 103
Interest on obligations under finance ieases 12 16
Expected return on assets less interest on labilites in respect of defined benefit pension scheme - 21
Other interest 93 5
Total borrowing costs 1,019 872
Less amounts included in the cost of qualfying assets (75) {70)
Total finance costs before remeasurements 944 802
Decrease in fair value of fair value hedges 85 7
Ineffective pertion of cash flow hedges 49 -
Decrease In fair value of dernvatives not hedge accounted 50 -
Fair value losses on interest rate swaps transferred from equity 4 27
Exchange differences on retranslation of foreign currency debt taken directly to iIncome statement - 38
Total finance costs 1,132 875

Borrowing costs are included in the costs of qualifying assets to the extent that the asset (s financed by the Company

The average rate used during the year was 5 0% (2006 5 01%)
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10 Tax

2007 2006
Group Group
£m £m
Current tax
UK Corporation tax at 30%
Corporation tax charge (11) -
Less Advance Corporation Tax set off 7 -
Corporation tax lrability (4) -
Group relief payable (6) -
Total current tax (10) _
Deferred tax
Deferred tax at 30%
Current year (charge)/credit (424) 34
Pnior year charge (9) (55)
Total deferred tax {433) (21)
Total tax (443) (21)
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit{loss) per the income statement as follows
2007 2006
Group Group
£m £m
Profit/(loss} before tax 1,478 (232)
Tax af the UK corporation tax rate of 30% 443 (70)
Adjustments in respect of pror years 9 55
Permanent dfferences {2) 36
Advance Corporation Tax previously written off {7) -
Tax charge for the year 443 21

In addition to the amounts charged to the income statement, deferred tax relating to the revaluation of the railway network

amounting to £19m (2006 £476m), movements on the hedging reserve amounting to £51m (2006 £76m credit} and relaiing to
retirement beneiit obligations amounting to £37m (2006 £31m charge} have been charged directly to equrty

UK corporation tax and deferred tax s calculated at a rate of 30% (2006 30%)

The Company and the Group have £39m (2006 £46m) of surplus Advance Corporation Tax carned forward No deferred tax asset
has been provided n respect of this amount as 1t 1s uncertain that it can be utiised against tax habiliies in the foreseable future

The Budget in March 2007 proposed certain changes in relation to future corporation tax rates and future capital allowances

As these changes were not substantively enacted at the balance sheet date their impact has not been recognised in these accounts
An estimate of the financial effect of these changes cannot currentiy be made
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11 Intangible assets

Concesswons
Group £m
Cost
At 1 April 2005, t Apnl 2006 and 31 March 2007 83
Amortisation
At 1 April 2005 (4)
Charge for the year (2)
At 1 Apnl 2008 (6)
Charge for the year (2)
At 31 March 2007 (8)
Carrying amount
At 31 March 2007 75
At 31 March 2006 77

The intangible assets above are held by the Company's wholly owned subsidiary Network Rail (CTRL) Limited

The concession to run the operations, maintenance and renewal business of the Channel Tunnel Raii Link 1s being amortised over
84 years, to 2086

12 Property, plant and equipment - the railway network

Group and
Company
Em
Valuation
At 1 Apnl 2005 22,221
Additions 3,181
Depreciation charge for the year {964)
Revaluation in the year 1,583
At 1 Apnl 2006 25,991
Additions 3,326
Depreciation charge for the year (1.086)
Revaluation i the year 73
At 31 March 2007 28,304

In the year ended 31 March 2003 Ove Arup and Partners reviewed Network Rall Infrastructure Limited's engineenng assessment
of the replacement cost, depreciated replacement cost and useful economic lives of all the asselts thai compnise the rallway
network and confirmed in wnting to the Directors that the basis upon which the assessment had been prepared was appropnate
and that the resuliant valuations and estimates were reasonable

Ove Arup and Partners carned out an intenm review in the year ended 31 March 2005 of the Company's engineenng assessment
of the replacement cost, depreciated replacement cost and useful ecanomic lives of the raitway network assets This intenm review
updated the full review carned out in the year ended 31 March 2003 Ove Arup and Partners confirmed in wniting that the basis
upon which the assessment was prepared continued to be appropnate and that there had been no matenal changes to the
valuations and estimates derived in the year ended 31 March 2003

The Directors have reviewed the assessments in the current year and are satisfied that they remain valid and appropnate at
31 March 2007 A full review of the valuation and asset lives 1s prepared and externally venfied at least every five years

The unimpaired depreciated replacement cost of the network (after excluding the replacement cost of embankments, cutings
and tunnels) 1s estimated at £63bn

As the depreciated replacement cost of the railway network significantly exceeds its value in use, it 1s mpaired down to its value
m use at each reporting date Given the interdependency of the assets compnsing the ralway network, the Group has concluded
that the railway network 1s a single cash generating unit and that its value In use 1s the estimated future cash flows that will be
generated In perpetuity, discounted at the Group's pre-tax cost of capital, as set by the Office of Rall Regulation (ORR) in its
Access Charges Review The estimate of the value in use Is based on the Regulatory Asset Base (RAB) which 1s, in effect, a
discounted future cash flow calculation adjusted for the net present value of any vanances from the ORR’s Determenation included
in the Group's Business Plans
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12 Property, plant and equipment — the railway network continued

The depreciation charge for any year 1s calculated using the average carrying value for the year and the estimated remaining
weighted average useful economic life of the rallway network The estimated remaining weighted average useful economic life
of the network 1s currently 25 years

As at 31 March 2007 the comparable valuation of the raillway network according to the histonic cost convention 15 £21,927m

As at 31 March 2007 and 31 March 2006 it 1s not possible to identify the undepreciated capitalised nterest or the undepreciated
finance leases, within the net book value of fixed assets The undepreciated interest capitalised since the date of adoption of the
network value as deemed cost on 1 Apnl 2002 was £195m (2006 £116m} No finance leased assets have been acquired since

1 Apnl 2002

At 31 March 2007, the Group had entered into contractual commitments in respect of capital expenditure amounting to £1,077m
(2006 £1,091m)

13 Investment property

Group and
Company
£m

Fair value
At 1 Apnl 2005 872
Additions 7
Disposals {4)
Increase 1n fair value in the year 17
At 1 Apnl 2006 §92
Additions 5
Disposals (4
Increase In fair value In the year 55
At 31 March 2007 9438

The fair value of the Group's investment properties at 31 March 2007 has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carned out
at that date by Jones Lang LaSalle, external valuers not connected with the Group, and by the Head of Corporate Real Estate,
Network Rall

The valuation which conforms to International Valuation Standards, was arnved at by, firstly, the external valuation of the 17 largest
properties amounting to 13% of the total valuation Secondly, the balance of the estate, amounting to 6,773 properties, was
valued using the Beacon method The portfolio was analysed into 12 homogenous classes of property and areas Jones Lang
LaSalle independently assessed the appropriate y:eld o be adopted within each of the portfolio classes/areas in order to enable
the directors to estimate market values by applying the adopted yields to the net rental Income 1n accordance with a traditional UK
investment property valuation

The property rental Income earned by the Group from its investment property, all of which i1s leased out under operating leases,
amounted to £72m (2006 £72m) Direct operating expenses ansing on the investment properties in the year amounted to £4m
(2006 £4m)

The Group's investment properties are let on a tenant repainng basis The Group's maintenance obligations are Iimited to common
areas and vacant property units
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14 Investment in subsidiaries. Company

At cost
£m

Investment in subsidianes at 1 Apnl 2005, 1 Apnl 2006 and 31 March 2007

49

The Company’s subsidiaries are set out below

Proportion of all
classes of 1ssued
share capiial owned

Dlrectly owned Country of incorporation by the Company Prncipal acimty

Network Rai Insurance Limited Guernsey 100% Insurance

Network Rail (CTRL) Lirmited Great Britain 100% Holds St Pancras concession
and CTRL Railway Services
Agreement

Network Rail (Spacra) Limited Great Bntain 100% Bormant

Network Rall (Stations) Limited Great Britain 100% Dormant

Network Rail (Projects) Limied Great Britain 100% Dormant

Network Rail {Property) Limited Great Britain 100% Dormant

Spacia {2002) Limited Great Britain 100% Dormant

Network Rail Defined Contnbution Pension  Great Bntain Company limited by Admiristration of defined

Scheme Trustee Limited guarantee contnbution pension scheme

Shares held by a trustee

Network Rail MTN Finance PLC

Network Rail Infrastructure Finance PLC

Great Britamn

Great Britain

Shares held by HSBC
Trustee (C | ) Lmied
Shares held by HSBC
Trustee (C | ) Limited

Administration of Medium
Term Note programme

Administration of Debt
tssuance Programme

The shares in Network Rail MTN Finance PLC and Network Rail Infrastructure Finance PLC are held by HSBC Trustee (C 1) Limited
for chantable purposes The sole activity of these companies s to act as a special purpose funding vehicle, including 1ssuing debt
under the Medium Term Note programme and Debt Issuance Programme respectively The companies are treated as subsidianes
for accounting purposes as proceeds from the Medium Term Note programme and Bebt Issuance Programme are on-lent to
Network Rail Infrastructure Limited and are used to finance the activities of the Company and to refinance the existing debt

of the Group
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15 Investments

Group Company

£m £m

At 1 Apnl 2005 166 -
Disposals {9) -
At 1 Apnl 2006 161 -
Disposals (161) -

At 31 March 2007

The investments included above represent amounts held by the Group’s captive insurance company, Network Rall Insurance Limited

16 Inventories

2007 2006
Group and Group and

Company Company

£m £m

Raw matenals and consumables 49 44

17 Finance lease receivables

Minimum lease payments

Present value of
minimum lease payments

2007 2007 2006
Group and Group and Group and Group and
Company Company Company Company
£m £m £m £m

Amounts recevable under finance leases
Within one year 5 5 3 3
In the second to fifth years inclusive 13 16 10 12
After five years 7 9 6 7
25 30 19 22
Less unearned finance income (6) (8} n/a n/a
Present value of minimum lease payments recewable 19 22 19 22

Aralysed as

Current finance lease receivables (recoverable within one year) 3 3
Non-current finance lease receivables (recoverable after one year) 16 19
19 22

The Group has entered into finance lease arrangements with third parties for vanous types of telecommunications equipment

Leases are due to expire In 2017/18

The interest rate iInherent in the leases 1s fixed at the contract date for all of the lease term The average effective interest rate

contracted 1s approximately 8 4% (2006 8 6%) per annum

The fair value of the Group’s finance lease recevables at 31 March 2007 1s estimated at £16m (2006 £18m)
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18 Other financial assets
Trade and other recevables

2007 2006 2007 2006

Group Group Company Campany

£mn £m £m £m

Trade recevables 319 122 307 113
Amounts due from construction contract customers 4 1 1 1
Amounts owed from other group companies - - 83 6
Capntal grants recevable 43 33 43 33
Other receivables 158 82 92 185
Prepayments and accrued income 105 201 105 201
626 439 631 609

Average deblor days were 37 days (2006 27 days) An allowance has been made for estimated irrecoverable amounts from the
supply of services of £4m (2006 £9m) This allowance has been made by reference to past default expenence

The directors consider that the carrying value of trade and other receivables approximates their farr value All balances are

non nterest bearng and denominated in sterling

The Group’s credit nsk 1s pnmanly atinbutable to its trade recevables The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk,

with exposure spread over a large number of counterparties and cusiomers

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents compnse bank balances held by the group and money market deposit investments The carrying
amount of these assets approximates to their far value The credit nsk on iquid funds 1s Imited because the counterparties are

banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies

19 Bank overdrafts and loans

2007 2006 2007 2006
Group Group Company Company
£m £m £m £m
Bank loans and overdrafts 1,482 1,139 329 339
Bonds issued under the Debt Issuance Programme
(fess unamortised discount and fees) 10,794 8,081 - -
Debt 1ssued under Medium Term Note programme
(less unamortised discount and fees) 4,826 5,857 - -
Commercial paper 1,260 3,078 - -
Kreditanstalt fur Wiederaufbau working capital faciity 215 228 - -
Loans from subsidiaries - - 18,486 17,855
18,577 18,383 18,815 18,194
The borrowings are repayable as follows
On demand or due within one year 2,862 4,186 2,913 4,186
Due within one to two years 4,722 1,502 4,761 1,502
Due within two to five years 3,051 6,122 3,140 6,122
Due in more than five years 7,942 6,573 8,001 6,384
18,577 18,383 18,815 18,194
Less amounts repayable within one year (shown under current liabidities)
Bank loans and overdrafts {100} () - (7)
Bonds 1ssued under the Debt Issuance Programme
{less unamortised discount and fees) (399) - - -
Debt 1ssued under Medium Term Note programme
{less unamortised discount and fees) (888) (873) - -
Commercial paper (1,260) (3,078) - -
Kreditanstalt fur Wiederaufbau working capital facility (215) (228) - -
Loans from subsidiary - - (2,913) {(4,178)
Amounts repayable within one year {2,862) (4,186) {2,913) (4,185}
Amounts repayable after more than one year 15,715 14,197 15,902 14,009

Alt borrowings are denominated in or swapped into sterling
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19 Bank overdrafts and loans continued

Bonds 1ssued under the Debt Issuance Programme are analysed as follows™

2007

2007

2006

Group Group Company Company

£€m £m £m £m

1 5646% Sterling index linked bond due 2044 207 201 - -
1 2219% Sterling index Iinked bend due 2040 207 201 - -
7 05% US Dollar bond due 2036 13 _ - -
6 91% US Dollar bond due 2036 13 - - _
4 75% Sterling bond due 2035 1,220 1,218 - -
1 6492% Sterling index linked bond due 2035 315 305 - -
4 375% Sterling bond due 2030 868 868 - -
4 57% Norwegran Krone bond due 2026 11 - - -
4 615% Norwegian Krone bond due 2026 40 - - -
1 9618% Sterling index inked bond due 2025 264 256 - -
4 75% Sterling bond due 2024 720 719 - -
4 3775% Sterling bond due 2023 200 - - -
2 28% Japanese Yen bond due 2021 43 - - -
2 315% Japanese Yen bond due 2021 45 - - -
2 15% Japanese Yen bond due 2021 43 - - _
2 76% Swiss Franc bond due 2021 123 - - -
4 625% Sterling bond due 2020 995 995 - -
5 0575% US Doltar bond due 2017 24 - - _
4 40% Canadian Dollar bond due 2016 219 245 - -
6% Australian Dollar bond due 2016 202 - - _
4 B75% Sterling bond due 2015 988 740 - -
4 375% Sterling bond due 2011 446 249 - _
5 25% US Dollar bond due 2011 515 - - -
5 50% Australian Dollar bond due 2010 349 351 - -
5 125% Sterling bord due 2010 498 - - -
3 875% US Dollar bond due 2009 507 574 - -
4 875% US Dollar bond due 2009 636 - - _
4 46% Sterling bond due 2008 50 50 - -
4 125% US Dollar bond due 2008 634 718 - -
4 50% Sterling bond due 2008 399 398 - -
Fair value of debt far value hedges - (8) - -
10,794 8,081 - -

* Amounts are shown net of unamortised discount and fees

Network Rall Infrastructure Limited Annual Report and Accounts 2007 57




Notes to the financial statements

19 Bank overdrafts and loans continued
Debt 1ssued under the Medium Term Note programme 1$ analysed as follows*

2007 2006 2007 2006
Group Group Company Company
£m £m £m fm
4 7/8% sterling Medium Term Note due 2009 2,244 2,241 - -
3 1/8% Euro Medium Term Note due 2009 1,694 1,739 - -
2 5/8% US dollar Medium Term Note due 2008 634 "7 - -
2 5/8% US dollar Medium Term Note due 2008 254 287 - -
Floating rate Euro Medium Term Note due 2007 - 873 - -
4,826 5,857 - -

Bank loans repayable are analysed as follows
2007 2006 2007 2006
Group Group Company Company
£m £m £m £m
Index-linked European Investment Bank due 2037 353 - - -
HSBC Bank due 2019 repayable by instalments 206 206 206 206
Barclays Bank due 2017 repayable by instalments 55 58 55 58
Royal Bank of Scotland due 2017 repayable by instalments 68 68 68 68
5 57% European Investment Bank due 2013 200 200 - -
5 77% European Investment Bank due 2012 300 300 - -
6 429% European Investment Bank due 2011 100 100 - -
6 42% European Investment Bank due 2009 100 100 - -
Eurcpean Investment Bank due 2007 100 100 - -
1,482 1,132 329 332

The weighted average nterest rates on borrowings at 31 March 2006 and 2007 were as follows

2007 2006 2007 2006
Group Group Company Company

Y% % % %

Bank loans and overdrafts 545 531 545 531
Debt 1ssued under the Debt Issuance Programme 485 482 - -
Debt 1ssued under the Medium Term Note programme 525 526 - -
Debt 1ssued under the Commercial Paper programme 525 479 - 479

Debt of £16,770m (2006 £16,116m) 1s arranged at fixed interest rates and exposes the Group to farr value interest rate nsk
Other borrowings were arranged at floating rates, thus exposing the Group to cash flow interest rate nsk

The Directors estimate the fair value of the Group's borrowings as follows

2007 2006 2007 2006

Group Group Company Company

£m £m £m £m

Bank loans and overdrafls (1,459) (1,422) (329) (332)
Debt issued under the Debt Issuance Prcgramme (12,304) (11,365) - -
Debt 1ssued under Medium Term Note programme (4,758) (5,547) - -
Loan from subsidiarnes - - {17,861) (17,712)
(18,521) (18,334) (18,190} {18,044)

At 31 March 2006 and 2007 the Group had the following undrawn committed borrowing facilities

2007 2007 2007 2006 2006 2006

Drawn Undrawn Total Drawn Undrawn Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Working capital facility - 1,000 1,000 - 2,750 2,750
Standby facility A - 4,000 4,000 - 4,000 4,000
- 5,000 5,000 - 6,750 6,750

* Amounts are shown net of unamaortised discount and fees
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19 Bank overdrafts and loans continued
Undrawn committed facilities expire as follows

2007 2006

£m £m

Within one year 1,000 2,750
Within one to two years - -
within two to five years 4,000 4,000
5,000 6,750

Not included in the above analysis are the £1,150m European Investment Bank and £215m Kreditanstalt fur Wiederauibau
faciliies as these were fully drawn as at 31 March 2007

In addition the Secretary of State for Transport has provided support facilities in respect of the facilities sted below
« Untimited financial ndemnity in respect of borrowings under the Debt Issuance Programme

- Medumn Term Note programme

« £1,150m European Investment Bank

» £215m Kreditanstalt fur Wiederaufbau

The support facilities provided by the Secretary of State for Transport cover amounts payable under the relevant facilities

Anintegral part of the Raillways Act 2005 (which received Royal Assent on 7 Apnl 2005) was the intention to create a Transfer
Scheme which enabled the transfer to the Secretary of State for Transport (SoS) of the property, nghts and labilities of the
Strategic Ratl Authonity (SRA) relating to the indebtedness of Network Rail This Transfer Scheme took effect on Sunday 26 June
2005 and with effect from this date, the SoS was treated as the same person in law as the SRA The debt support obligations
which were transferred from the SRA to the S0S include those under the Debt Issuance Programme, (being the Financial
indemnity) As a result of the Transfer Scheme, the debt support obligations for Network Rail's debt became direct sovereign
obligations of the Crown

20 Derivative financial instruments
The Group and Company uses denvative financial instruments to reduce exposure to foreign exchange nsk and interest
rate movements

The Group and Company does not use denvative financial instruments for speculative purposes, however it may wish to designate
certain dervatives as hedges Such denvatives that are not hedge accounted are fair valued immediately through the income
statement The Group and Company has a comprehensive nsk management process The Board have approved and monitor the
nsk management processes, including documented treasury policies, counterparty imits, controling and reporting structures

The use of dervative instruments can give nse to credit and market nsk Market nsk 1s the possibility that future changes in foreign
exchange rates and interest rates may make a derivative more or less valuable Since the Group and Company uses dervatives
for nsk management, market risk relating to denvative instruments will principally be offset by changes in the valuation of the
underlying asseis, llabilites or transactions being hedged

The credit nsk with regard to denvative financial instruments and other funds 1s imited because the counterparties are banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies The Group and Company spreads 1is exposure over a number
of counterparties

Foreign exchange nsk 1s managed by the use of forward exchange contracts, and currency swaps to imit the effects of
movements in exchange rates on foreign currency denominated labilities

Interest rate risk 1s managed by the use of interest rate swaps 1o manage exposure to inierest rate movements on a portion
of existing debt

The obhgations and nghts of Network Rail Infrastructure Limited under the inter-company loan agreement with its financing
companies give nse to embedded denvatives in that agreement which reflects the external currency and interest rates risks to
which the financing companies are exposed The embedded dernvatives are treated as separate denvatives and accounted for
in accordance with the accounting policy Note 2
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20 Derivative financial instruments continued

2007
Group

2007
Company

Fair Notional Fair Notional
value amounts value amounts
£m £m £m £m
Cash flow hedges
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debt issued under Debt Issuance Programme 27 1,790 27 1,790
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debt 1ssued under Medium Term Note programme 1 1,074 - -
Forward starting interest rate swaps 5 1,237 5 1,237
Forward starting cross-currency swaps 1 547 - -
Interest rate swaps 8 400 8 400
Non-hedge accounted denvatives
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debt 1ssued under Debt Issuance Programme - 27 - -
42 5,075 40 3,427
Included In non current assets 4 - 39 -
Included in current assets 1 - 1 -
Dervative Financial Instrument Assets 42 - 40 -
Cash flow hedges
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debt 1ssued under Debt Issuance Programme (90} 1,586 - -
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debt 1ssued under Medium Term Note programme (94) 1,568 - -
Forward starting interest rate swaps - 250 - -
Fair Value Hedges
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debt issued under Debt Issuance Programme (92) 1,786 - -
Embedded denvatives in the mnter-company borrowings - - (42) 8,350
Non-hedge accounted denvatives
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debt 1ssued under Debt Issuance Programme (28) 1,512 - -
{304) 6,702 (42) 8,350
Included in current habiliies {105) - (42) -
Included in non current habilities {199) - - -
Denvative Financial Instrument Liabilibes (304) - (42) -
2007 2006
Group Group
Fair Notional Faw Novoral
value amounts value amounlts
£m £m £m Em
Cash flow hedges
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debt 1ssved under Debt Issuance Programme (63) 3,376 22 1,586
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debt issued under Medium Term Note programme (93} 2,642 33 3,482
Forward starting interest rate swaps 5 1,487 1 1,590
Forward starting cross-currency swaps 1 547 - -
Interest rate swaps 8 400 (1) 328
Fair Value Hedges
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debt 1ssued under Debt Issuance Programme (92} 1,786 (7) 250
Non-hedge accounted denvatives
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debt issued under Debt Issuance Programme (28} 1,539 - -
Currency denvatives - - 20 2,590
(262) 11,777 68 9,826
2007 2006
Company Company
Falr Notional Fair Notonal
valve amounts value amounts
£m £m £m £m
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debt 1ssued under Debi issuance Programme 27 1,790 - -
Forward starting interest rate swaps 5 1,237 - -
Interest rate swaps 8 400 - -
Embedded dertvatives in the inter-company borrowings 42) 8,350 {130 9.826
(2) 11,777 {130} 9,826

Some derivalives, while complying with the Group’s financial risk management pohcies, do not quahfy for hedge accounting and

are therefore classified as held for trading
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21 Deferred tax
The following are the major deferred tax llabilities and assets recognised by the Group and Company and movement therecn
duning the current and prior years

Accelerated tax Revaluation of Rewrement
depreciabon raitway network  benefit oblgations Dervatres Tax losses Total
Group £m £m Em £m Em Em
At 1 April 2005 1,865 1,439 (133} (34) (1,727} 1,410
Charge/(credit) to income 345 - {14} 7 (317} 21
Charge/(credit) to equity 54 422 3 (43} - 464
At 1 Apnl 2006 2,264 1,861 {116) {70) {2,044) 1,895
Charge/(credit) 1o iIncome 276 - )] {(10) 171 433
Charge/(credit) to equity 61 {(42) a7 51 - 107
At 31 March 2007 2,601 1,819 (83) (29) {1,873) 2,435
Accelerated tax Revaluation of Retrement
depreciation raiway network  benefit obligatons Denvatives Tax losses Total
Company £m £m £m £m £m Em
At 1 Apnl 2005 1,865 1,439 (133) (34) (1,727} 1,410
Chargef(credit) to income 345 - (14) 7 (317} 21
Charge/{credit) to equity 54 422 31 (43) - 464
At 1 Apnl 2006 2264 1,861 {116} {70) {2,044) 1,895
Chargef(credit} to income 276 - (4) 29 174 475
Charge/{credit} to equity 61 (42) 37 9 - 65
At 31 March 2007 2,601 1,819 (83) {32) (1,870) 2,435
Certain deferred tax assets and liabihties have been offset The following 1s the analysis of the gross deferred tax balances
2007 2006
£m £m
Deferred tax habilities 4,420 4,124
Deferred tax assets (1,985} (2,229)
2435 1,895

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited has a potental deferred tax asset relating to the disposal of the track bed which 1s carred at
zero In the accounts It 1s not possible to determine reliably the tax base of the asset which would be determined by negotiation
with the Inland Revenue and therefore it has not been possible to reliably quantify the potential deferred tax asset Had it been
possible to do so, the potential deferred tax asset would not have been recognised in these accounts as it 1s not considered
probable that suitable taxable profits will be available against which the deferred tax asset can be utilised

22 Obligations under finance leases

Present value
Mimimum of mmmum

lease payments lease payments
2007 2006 2007 2006
Group and Group and Group and Group and
Company Company Company Company
£m £m £m £m

Amounts payable under finance leases

Within one year 1 1 - -
In the second to fifth years inclusive 4 4 2 2
After five years 10 11 8 8
15 16 10 10
Less future finance charges (5) (6} nia n/a
Present value of lease obligations 10 10 10 10
Less amounts repayable within one year (shown under current habiliies) - -
Amounts repayable after more than one year 10 10

The Group leases certain fixtures and fittings under finance leases from third parties All lease obligations are denorminated
in sterhing The fair valuve of the Group’s lease obligations approximates their carrying amount The Group's obligations under
finance leases are secured by the lessors’ charges over the leased assets For the year ended 31 March 2007, the effective
barrowing rate was 5 1% (2006 5 1%} Interest rates are fixed at contract date All leases are on a fixed repayment basis and
no arrangements have been entered into for contingent rent payments
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23 Trade and other payables

Current labihties Trade and other payables 2007 2006 2007 2006
Group Group Company Company
£m £m £ £m
Trade creditors 620 589 607 574
Amounts due to construction contract customers 1 - 1 -
Payments received on account 12 11 12 1M
Taxation and social secunty 38 - 38 -
Other creditors 325 357 294 357
Otner interest accruals 227 153 221 153
Other accruals and deferred income 987 973 870 973
2,210 2,083 2,043 2,068
The average credit penod taken for trade purchases 1s 51 days (2006 49 days)
The Directors consider that the carrying value of irade and other payables approximates to therr farr value All balances are
non interest beanng and denominated i steriing
Non-current habiities Other payables 2007 2006 2007 2006
Group Group Company Company
£m £m £m im
Deferred development income 87 117 87 117
Capital grants deferred income 951 802 951 802
Other payables 91 - 91 -
1,129 9 1,129 919
24 Provisions: Group and Company Emvranmental Other
provision DPrOVISIONS Total
£m £m £m
At 1 Apnl 2005 22 39 61
Additional provision in the year - - -
Utlisation of provision (5) (1N (22)
At 1 Apnl 2006 17 22 39
Additional provision in the year - 13 13
Utiisation of provision {17) (2) {19)
At 31 March 2007 - 33 33
Included in current abiliies - 15 15
Included in non-current habilities - 18 18
- 33 33

The Group had previously provided for the anbicipated costs of remedial works on land inhented from the British Rarlways Board
which has suffered contamination, and where contractual or other obligations require the Company o clear up these sites Following
a review of the planned expenditure, it 1s estimated that all costs have been incurred and so no further provision 1s required

In addition, the Group have provided aganst a number of commercial claims from third parties for which settlement 1s expected

to be achieved in the next one {o two years

25 Share capital 2007 2006
Group and Group and
Company Company
£m £m
Authonsed

50,200,000 ordinary shares of 0 1p each - _
500,000,000 redeemable shares of £1 each 500 500
500 500

Issued and fully paid
50,084,937 ordinary shares of 0 1p each - -
160,000,000 redeemable shares of £1 each 160 160
160 160

The Company has the option o repurchase any or all of the redeemable shares at any date after 31 March 2003 No premium is
repayable on such redemption and the option to repurchase has no expiry date The redeemable shareholders have no nght to
redemption at their instigation Redeemable shares do not carry voting nghts, or rank for dividend, but may do so If the Company

passes a resolution to that effect
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26 Reconciliation of changes in equity

Share Share Rewvaluation Cther Hedgng Retaned
capital Premum Reserve Reserve* Reserve Earmings Tatal
Group £m £m £m £m £m £m Em
At 1 Apnl 2005 160 85 3,357 1,451 - (1.443) 3,610
Opening adjustments made on
1 April 2005 on transition to
IAS 32 and IAS 39
Opening value of denvatives on
transition to 1AS 32 and 1AS 39 - - - - (85) (15} (100)
Opening exchange differences on
retranslation of foreign currency
debt on transition to I1AS 32 and IAS 39 - - - - (19) 21 2
Opening deferred taxation on transition
to IAS 32 and |AS 39 - - - - 34 - 34
(64)
Revaluation of the rallway network - - 1,583 - - - 1,583
Transfer of deemed cost depreciation
from revaluation reserve - - (181} - - 181 -
Increase in deferred tax habiirty
on the railway network - - (422} - - (54) (476)
Actuarnal gains on defined benefit
pension schemes - - - - - 102 102
Deferred tax on actuanal gans - - - - - (31 (31)
Deferred taxation on all hedging
reserve movements/retained earnings - - - - 50 - 50
Increase in far value of hedging
derwvatives - - - - 1 - 1
Exchange differences an retranslation
of foreign currency debt - - - - (178) - (178)
Transfers
Transferred to income statement on
disposal of cash flow hedges - - - - 25 - 25
Recychng of balances in hedging
reserve to the income statement - - - - 2 _ 2
Deferred tax on transfers - - - - (8) - (8)
Net loss for the year - - - - - (253) {253)
At 31 March 2006 160 85 4,337 1,451 (178) (1,492) 4,363
Revaluation of the railway network - - 73 - - - 73
Transfer of deemed cost depreciation
from revaluation reserve - - (205) - - 205 -
Increase in deferred tax hability on
the railway network - - 42 - - {61) (19)
Actuarial gains on defined benefit
pension schemes - - - - - 122 122
Deferred tax on actuaral gains - - - - - (37) (37)
Deferred taxation on all hedging
reserve movements/retained earnings - - - - (50) - (50)
Decrease In fair value of hedging
dervatives - - - - (183) - {183)
Exchange differences on retranslation
aof foreign currency debt - - - - 351 - 351
Transfers
Recycling of balances in hedging
reserve to the income statement - - - - 4 - 4
Deferred tax on transfers - - - - ) - M
Net profit for the year - - - - - 1,035 1,035
At 31 March 2007 160 85 4,247 1,451 (57) (228) 5,658

* Other reserves of £1 451m comprnise the vesting reserve (2006 £1,451m) on privatisation
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26 Reconciliation of changes in equity continued

Share Share Revaluation Oiher Hedging Retained
capial Premium Reserve Reserve* Reserve Earnings Total
Company £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 Apnt 2005 160 85 3,357 1,451 - (1,451} 3,602
Opening adjustments made on
1 April 2005 on transition to
[AS 32 and |AS 39
Opening value of denvatives on
transition to IAS 32 and 1AS 39 - - - - (28) (72) (100
Opening exchange differences on
retranslation of foreign currency
debt on transition to IAS 32 and IAS 38 - - - - - 2 2
Opening deferred taxation on transition
to 1AS 32 and 1AS 39 - - - - 11 23 34
(64)
Revaluation of the rallway network - - 1,583 - - - 1,583
Transfer of deemed cost depreciation
from revaluation reserve - - (181} - - 181 -
Increase in deferred tax hability
on the rallway network - - (422) - - (54) (476)
Actuanal gains on defined benefit
pension schemes - - - - - 102 102
Deferred tax on actuarizl gains - - - - - (31} (31
Deferred taxation on all hedging
reserve movements/retained earnings - - - - 17 - 17
Decrease n fair value of hedging
dervatives - - - - (88) - (88)
Transfers
Transferred to Income statement on
disposa! of cash flow hedges - - - - 25 - 25
Recycling of balances in hedging
reserve to the income statement - - - - 2 - 2
Net loss for the year - - - - - (322) (322)
At 31 March 2006 160 85 4,337 1,451 (61) (1,622) 4,350
Revaluation of the rallway network - - 73 - - - 73
Transfer of deemed cost depreciation
from revaluation reserve - - (205) - - 205 -
Increase In deferred tax hability
on the railway network - - 42 - - (61) (19
Actuarial gains on defined benefit
pension schemes - - - - - 122 122
Deferred tax on actuanal gains - - - - - (37} (37)
Deferred taxation on all hedging
reserve movements/retained earnings - - - - 8) - (8)
Increase n farr value of hedging
denvatives - - - - 33 - 33
Transfers
Recycling of balances in hedging
reserve to the Income statement - - ~ - 4 - 4
Deferred tax on trangfers - - - - M - %)
Net profit for the year - - - - - 1,129 1,129
At 31 March 2007 160 85 4,247 1,451 (33) (264) 5,646

¢ Other reserves of £1 451m compnse the vesting reserve (2006 £1,451m) on pavatisation
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27 Notes to the cash flow statement

2007 2006 2007 2006
Group Group Company Company
£m gyl £m £m
Operating prefit from operations 2,278 468 2,298 468
Adjustments for
Depreciation of the railway network 1,086 964 1,086 964
Amortisation of capital grants (31} (26) (31) (26)
Amortisation of intangible assets 2 2 - -
Decrease in provisions {6} (22) (6) (22)
Operating cash flows before movements 1n working capital 3,329 1,386 3,347 1,384
Increase In inventories {5} {(9) (5) {9)
(Increase)/decrease in receivables {199} 142 (34) 115
Increase/(decrease) in payables 125 (195) (29) (159)
Cash generated from operations 3,250 1,324 3,279 1,331
Interest paid (822) (669) (819} (669)
Net cash generated from operating activities 2428 655 2,460 662

Cash and cash equivalents {which are represented as a single class of assets on the face of the balance sheet) comprise cash
at bank and money market deposit Investments with an average matunty of 2 days (2006 3 days}

28 Analysis of changes in net debt

1 Apm Mon cash Amortisation Farvalbe  Foreign exchange k] Mar:t:

2006 Cash flows movements. of discount  remeasurements differences 2007

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents 3 162 - - - - 193
Borrowings due within one year (4,186} 2,733 (1,502) (80) - 173 (2.862)
Borrowings due after one year (14,197} (3,268) 1,459 (13) 105 199 {15,715)
Obligations under finance leases (10} - - - - - (10)
Avallable-for-sale investments 161 (161) - - - -
{18,201) {534) {43) {93) 105 372 {18,394)

At A

1 Apnl Non cash Amorhsation Farvalue  Foreign exchange 31 March

2005 Cash flows. mavements of discount  remeasurements differences 2006

£m £m £m £m Em £m

Cash and cash equivalents 28 3 - - - - 3
Borrowings due within one year {5,122} 2,151 (1,059} (104} - (52) {(4,186)
Borrowings due afier one year (10,708) (4,379) 1,058 (11} 7 (165) (14,197)
Obligations under finance leases (10} - - - - - (10}

Availlable-for-sale invesiments 66 {5) - - - - 161
(15,646} (2,230) - {115) 7 (217) (18,201)
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29 Operating lease arrangements

The Group as lessee 2007 2006 2007 2006
Group Group Company Company
£m £m £m £m

Mimmum lease payments under operating leases recognised In Income

statement in the year 38 54 38 54
At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future mirimum lease payments under non-canceliable
operating leases, which fall due as follows

2007 2006 2007 2006
Group Group Company Company
£m £m £m £m
Within one year 36 43 36 43
In the second to fifth years inclusive 64 54 64 54
After five years 43 35 48 35
148 132 148 132
Operating lease payments largely represent rentals payable by the Group for certan of its office properties Leases are
negotiated for an average term of seven years and rentals fixed for an average of three years |n addition rentals are pad
jor land adjacent to the railway as requred for maintenance and renewal activities
The Group as lessor
Operating lease rentals earned In the year was £516m (2006 £479m) The majonty of this income 1$ earned from station and
depot leases to train operating companies Further rentals are earned from investment properties, other station letings,
advertising, telecoms and raill contractors
At the balance sheet date, the Group had contracted with customers for the following future minimum lease payments
2007 2006 2007 2006
Group Group Company Company
£m £m Em £m
Within one year 420 375 420 375
In the second to fifth years inclusive 1,188 942 1,188 942
After five years 1,667 1,337 1,667 1,337
3,275 2,654 3,275 2,654

30 Retirement benefit scheme

Defined contnbution schemes

With effect from 1 Apnl 2004 the Company introduced a defined contnbution pension scheme, the Network Rail Defined
Contnbution Pension Scheme (NRDCPS) This scheme 1s the only Company-sponsored pension offered to all new employees
of Network Rall, except those who have the legal nght to join the Rallway Pension Scheme (RPS) Any employee who wishes
to transfer from the Network Rail Section to the NRDCPS is entitled to do so

At 31 March 2007, the NRDCPS has 8,495 members (2006 6,510) and the average employer contribution rate in the year
was 5 6% (2006 5 0%)

Defined benefit schemes

The principal pension scheme 1n which the Group participates s the Railway Pension Scheme (RPS), which was established

by statutory instrument, commenced on 1 October 1994 and s a funded defined benefit arrangement The assets and liabilities
under the predecessor scheme, the Brntish Rail Pension Scheme (BRPS), were transferred to the RPS on that date The RPS1s
an industry-wide scheme for all eligible employees within the rallway industry There are different sections within 1t for different
employers The assets and liabilities of each section are identified separately from those of the other sections The Group has
Iis own section, the Network Rail Shared Cost Section {the ‘Network Rail Section’y This scheme, the assets of which are held
separately from the Group, 18 contributory and provides pensions related to pay at retirement

The assets transferred to the RPS from the BRPS on 1 October 1394 were apportioned amongst the vanous sections of the RPS
in accordance with the methods and assumptions specified in The Railways Pensions (Transfer and Miscellaneous Provisions)
Order 1994 (the ‘Transfer Order’) which effected the transfer The amount credited to the Network Rail Sectien included a share
of the surplus at that time

Since 1 Apnl 2004, new members can only join the Network Rail Section of the RPS after completing five years' service Benefits
for existing members and employees joining up to and including 31 March 2004 were not affected by the revised eligibility rules
of the Network Rail Section In addition to closing the scheme to new entrants the Company announced is decision {o cap Its
contnbution to Brtish Railways Additional Superannuation Scheme (BRASS) matching at current levels for existing employees
and to dispense with matching for new employees The Company will continue to match regutar coninbutions but will not
increase them in cash terms in the future

A full actuanal valuahion of the Network Rall Section was carried out by the scheme actuary at 31 December 2004 Qualified
actuaries Watson Wyatt have valued the scheme on an IAS19 basis at 31 March 2007 and 31 March 2006
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30 Retirement benefit scheme continued
The total contnbution rate payable under the RPS 1s normally sphit in the proportion 60 40 between the Group and the members
The Group reflects its share of the contnbution in the financial statements

The Group and members pay contributions of 15 51% (2006 14 25%) and 10 34% (2006 9 5%) of section pay respectively
as at 31 March 2007

If a surplus or deficit anses, the provisions in the RPS rules mean that the Company and members benefit from or pay for this
respectively in the proportion 60 40

2007 2006
% %
Key assumptions used
Discount rate 540 500
Expected return on equity assets 8 00 800
Expected return on bond assets 440 400
Expected return on property assets 620 600
Expected rate of saiary increases” 470 450
Future pension increases 320 300
“ Inclusive of a prometional salary scale of 0 5% per annum
2007 2006
Males Females Males Females
Average ife expectancy for mortality tables used o determine
defined benefit obligations
— Member aged 65 now 178 201 17 8 201
- Member aged 65 in 20 years' time 187 212 187 212
Amounts recognised In Income I1n respect of the Group's pension arrangements are as follows
2007 2006
£m £m
Current service cost 121 115
Interest cost 102 92
Expected return on scheme assets (119) ()
Past service costs - -
104 136

The current service cost has been included in employee costs, the expected return on scheme assets less interest on liabilities
has been included In finance costs

Actuanal gains and losses have been reported in the statement of recognised income and expense

The amount included in the balance sheet ansing from the Group's obhgations in respect of its defined benefit scheme 1s
as follows

2007 2006
£m £m
Present value of defined benefit obligations (3,424) {3,234}
Farr value of scheme asseis 3,010 2,635
Deficit in the scheme {414) (599)
Company’'s share (60%) of the scheme deficit recogmsed i the balance sheet (248) (359)
This amount I1s presenied in the balance sheet as follows
Included in current habilities - -
Included in non-current hiatulities (248) (359)
(248) (359)

Cumulative gains or losses are recognised in equity

Movements in the present value of defined beneit obligations (including members’ share} in the current year were as follows

2007 2006

£m £m
At 1 Apnil (3.234) (2,527)
Current service cost (188) (178)
Interest cost (169) (153)
Actual benefit payments 56 (150)
Actuanal gains and losses 111 (226)
Past service cost _ -
At 31 March (3.424) (3,234)

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Annual Report and Accounts 2007 €7




Notes to the financial statements

30 Retirement benefit scheme continued
Movemenits in the preseni value of fair value of scheme assets {(including members’ share} in the current year wezrgnas follows

2006
£rm Em
At 1 Apnl 2,635 1,849
Expected return on scheme assets 198 118
Actuanial gains and losses 87 376
Contributions from scheme members 54 53
Contnibutions from Employer 92 89
Actual benefit payments (56) 150
At 31 March 3,010 2,635
The analysis of the scheme assets and the expected rate of return at the balance sheet date was as follows
Expected return Fair value of assets
2007 2006 2007
% % £m £m
Equity instruments 800 8 00 2,332 2,131
Debt instruments 4 40 400 372 312
Property 620 6 00 296 174
Other 420 400 10 18
3,010 2,635
The expected return on assets assumption was determined as the average of the expected returns on the assels held by
the Network Rail Section on the accounting date The rates of return for each class are set out in the table above and were
determined as follows
» Equities and property The rate adopted 1s consistent with the median assumption used in Watson Wyatt's Asset Liability
Modelling work
- Bonds The overall rate has been set to reflect the yields on the bond holdings
« Qther assets This class 1s mostly made up of cash holdings and the rate adopted reflects current short-term returns on
such deposiis
The history of experience adjustments 1s as follows
2007 2006 2005
£m £m £m
Present value of defined benefit obligations (3,424) (3,234) (2.527)
Fair value of scheme assets 3,010 2635 1,849
Deficit in the scheme {414) (599) (678)
Company's share (60%) of the scheme deficit recognised in the balance sheet {248) (359) (414)
Experience adjustments on scheme labilibes
Amount (Em}) {14) (67) (217)
Percentage of scheme habilities 041% 207% 8 59%
Experience adjustments on scheme assets
Amount (Em} 52 229 79
Percentage of scheme assets 173% 8 69% 427%

The estimated amounts of contributions expected to be paid by the Group and members to the scheme durning the year ended
31 March 2008 are £104m and £56m

31 Related party transactions

Transactions between the Company and its subsichanes, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and
are not disclosed 1n this note

The Company considers its key management personnel to be is directors Details of therr remuneration can be found in the
Directors' remuneration report (see page 22)

The Company's ullimate parent company and controlling entity 1s Network Rail Limited, a company hrmited by guarantee without
shares The Company's immediate parent company 1s Network Rail Holdco Limited Both parent companies are incorporated

in Great Bntamn and registered in England and Wales The largest group of undertakings of which the Company 1s a member
and for which group accounts are drawn up 1s Network Rall Limited Copies of the parent companies’ financial statements can
be obtained by contacting the Group Company Secretary at 40 Melion Street, London NW1 2EE
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3 April 2007 Publication of 2007 Business Plan

24 May 2007 Preliminary results announcement for full year to 31 March 2007
18 July 2007 Annual General Meeting of Network Rail Limited

November 2007 Results for half year announcement to 30 September 2007
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